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l

Strategic Expg nsion

TOTAL
REVENUE

NET
INCOME

P2.8 Billion nx
P746 million 152

DEBT TO
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In 2023, Eton Properties demonstrated a considerable

increase in financial performance. From Php 2.5 billien
in 2022, tha a_c:-f'r‘pan'_w s revenue rogse to Php 2.8 billion,
exhibiting an 11% increase in total revenue. Asa result, the
C-GI'T'I;.-EIP'. s net income experienced substantial growth of
152%, reaching Php 746 million from Php Z'Ei'o n‘|||I|DT| in the
nremcuz year. The L_DT"HPEI"‘I.-’SGFF'TBUCIPM ciency, sound
financial management, and diversified pcurtfohc, contributed
significantly to its overall income backed by the renewed
focus on E:EES a healthy leasing income, process streamilining,
and one-time gains.

As a result of strategic investments and developments,
coupled with a focus on effectiveness and productivity, Eton's
income ratio increased from 12% to 275% this year, while the
debt-to-equity ratio-slightly improved from .58 to 45.

Tne leasing portfolio remains the pnimary driver of Eton

t-88% IZCI“ItrIDLItICIﬂ Aligning with the robust economic
grc‘-mtlﬂ the leasing seg...ent achieved a notable 16% increase
in revenue, climbing from Php 2.1 billion in 2022 to Php
2.5 billion in 2023. Office Ieasmg remainad the leading
revenue contributor, comprising §9% of the total, followed by
commercial and retail leasing at 22%. Meanwhile, residential
and miscellansous leasing portiolios collecti*.-‘el; contributed
8% to the overall revenue,

Within the office leasing segment, Eton has accomplished
significant milestones, closing approximately 136,429 square
meters of office spaces across key developments such as
eWestPod and Blakes Tower at Eton WestEnd Square in Makati
City, and Centns Cyberpod One at Eton Centris in Quezon City.
Additionally, Centris Cyberpods Two and Three maintained
high occupancy rates of 78% and 100% respectively. With
an optimistic economic outlook, particularly in the IT-BPO

sector, the office leasing segment r..T'IthFp.:tE'S further growth,
as companies continue to expand cperations in 2024,

Commercial leasing is poised for growth with the revitalized
Eton City Square, a four-hectare commercial complex in Eton
City township in Sta. Rosa, Laguna. Furthermore, Village
Walk, 2 modem lifestyle commercial center within Eton City,
which was opened for land lease in the previous year, is now
?Eneratiﬂg several inquiries and capturing strong interest
rom business locators. Throughout 2024, Eton anticipates the
opening of more retail 5tn::|rE5 across its commercial properties
and retail districts in Metro Manila and Sta. Rosa, Laguna
as the market regains confidence influenced by economic
stability and strong consumer spending.

Residential leasing experienced a decrease in leasable
space, from 47,030 square meters in 2022 to 35,377 square
meters in 2023, ending the year with a 53% -::Ltupancy rate.
Motably, The Mini Suttes at Eton Tower Makati capitalized
on the rebound in travel demand in the final quarter,
contributing 79 to Eton’s performance

Complementing the leasing segment's production, Eton
anticipates StEad?‘/ growth with the renewed focus on sales
activities, Eton achieved an accumulated income s::ufi'hp 137
miilion from the sale of its residential projects 68 Roces in
Quezon City and four {4) subdivisions, such as South Lake
Village, RiverBend, TierraBela, and WestWing wesmer*.cei at
Eton City in 5ta. Resa, Laguna. This further bolsters Eton's
financial pesition with a 5% contribution to the overall
revente, supporting futdr-: growth initiatives,

Enduring with the strategy to diversify revenue streams, Eton
continues to oversee the Lucio Tan Group’s participation in
the joint venture with Ayala Land, facilitated through ALl
Eton Property Development Corporation. This collaboration
underscores our commitment fo strategic partnerships and
expansion opportunities, Notably, joint venture project,
Parklinks, is rapidly progressing towards delivering a
sprawling 35-hectare tewnship to the market envisioned
to become the country's premier "greenest urban estate”
development.

Looking ahead to 2024, Eton continues fo create more
opportunities in its Eton El’w property in Sta. Rosa, Laguna
as well as potentially devefoping an integrated township
in Mactan, Cebu, It -_-::ntlnues to search |ch|:-|nt venture
opportunities that would soon pave the way to enhance
these areas in order to address today's market behaviors,
preferences, and demand. More so, Eton is studying fo
launch a new hotel brand and launch two (2) low to medium
density residential communities in key areas in Metro
Manila in the next two years, slongside opening more sales
inventory from its high-rise developments to sustain Eten's
growth and create more value for our consumers,

Undeniably, Eton demonstrated strength in its operational
efficiency, sound financial management and diversified
portfolio, as it leveraged on market opportunities and
strategic developments 1o drive revenue growth. As it
moves forward, Eten remains poised for further growth
and expansion as it continues fo navigate the dynamic real
estate environment
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=] | Chairman's Message

CHAIRMAN'’S
MESSAGE

The year 2023 has been a period of significant
milestones and notable growth for Eton Properties,
One of its proudest accomplishments this year was
the post-pandemic increase in net income, 5||j|r'|.=lmg

a major achievement following a period of adversity.

This success can be attributed to its operational
efficiency. sound financial management, and a
diversified portfolio that contributed significantly
to overall income,

Our financial performance showcases our
commitment to sustainable growth and value
creation for our shareholders as our total revenu
w a considerable 11% increase from Php 2.
billion in 2022 to Php 2.8 b| lion. This resulted in a
significant 15_?3 increass in net income from Php
296 million i 2022 to Php 746 million in 2023, Our
str, tegh_ initiatives, renewed focus on sales, healthy

easing income, and one-time gains, contributed
tc— this substantial growth,

LM

The leasing portfolic remained a significant driver
of Eton’s businesses, with contributions from
office leasing., commercial and retail leasing, and
residential leasing portfolios. Notably, the office
leasing segment achieved a breakthrough with
successful contract deal signings of office spaces
across key developments in Makati City and Quezon
City, along with high occupancy rates in other
locations.

Looking ahead, Eton is very optimistic about
the future prospects in office leasing segment,
especially with the positive economic cutlock and
the growing demand for office spaces. Furthermore,
the commercial leasing se :j 1ent is poised for
growth, owing to more developments—Eton City
Sguare and the Village '--‘-falk which have garnered
strong interest from business locators.

In the retail sector, Eton anticipates more store
openings across its properties in Metro Manila
and 5Sta. Rosa, Laguna, as market confidence
strengthens. Additionally, the residential |-=55i'1g
segment has shown growth, and Eton is capitalizing
on rebounding travel demand in our serviced

resigences segment.

&

Lo-:-.‘-:ing into the future, Eton is ewvaluating
ra"’uni*ief for further development at Eton City
in 5ta. Rosa, Laguna and explering joint ventures to

';I.l

enhance its offerings in this area. It aim to launch
a new hotel brand. residential communities, and
improve after-sales services to sustain growth and
create more value for the market.

| extend my heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders
for their unwavering support, our management
and team members for their dedication, and our
valued customers for trusting Eton Fr-ar:e:‘:lez all

these years.
/ |
1' /{’

Dr. Lucio C. Tan
CHAIRMAN

Chairman's Message | 7



President’s Report

2023 has been marked by significant milestones and
notable progress for Eton Properties. | am pleased to
impart with you that for this fiscal year, net income
has experienced its first post-pandemic increase,
marking ‘a notable accomplishment following
challenging times,

This milestone, among others is largely attributed
to Eton's operational efficiency, sound financial
management, and a diversified portfolio that
contributed significantly to overall income,

Parallel with the economic recovery and resurgence
of market confidence in 2023, Eton Properties
demonstrated an 11% increase in total revenue,
rising to Php 2.8 billion from Php 2.5 billion in 2022,
Subsequently, this signalled 3 remarkable 152%
surge in net income, reaching Php 746 million from
Php 296 million in the previous year. Backed by
strategic initiatives with renewed focus on sales,
a healthy leasing income, other revenue channels,
and one-time gains, this solid performance no less
reflects our commitment to sustainable growth and
creating more value for our shareholders,

The leasing portfolic remains the primary driver with
88% contribution, the serviced residences business
unit with 7%, and residential sales at 5% input. From

8 | President’s Report

Php 2.1 billion in 2022 to Php 2.5 billion in 2023, the
leasing segment achieved a noteworthy 16% increase
in revenue side-by-side with a strong economic growth,
Office leasing remains the leading revenue contributor,
covering 69% in total, trailed by commercial and retail
leasing at 22%, and residential and miscellaneous
leasing portfolios collectively contributing 9% to the
overall revenue.

The coffice leasing segment business reached a
substantial breakthrough in the year. Eton was able
to close approximately 136,429 square meters of office
spaces across key developments namely in eWestPod
and Blakes Tower at Eton WestEnd Square in Makati
City, and in Centris Cyberpod One at Eton Centris in
Quezon City; while maintaining high cccupancy rates
in Centris Cyberpods Two and Three, also located
in Eton Centris, at 78% and 100% occupancy rates,
respectively,

Eton is very optimistic with the continuing positive
economic outlook of the IT-BPQ sector, as well as
the traditional businesses, the office leasing segment
can look forward to copious progress, as companies
continue to highly consider expansion of their
operations in 2024,

With the revitalized four-hectare Eton City Square
at the Eton City township in Sta. Rosa, Laguna, more
so with the opening of the Village Walk—a modern
lifestyle commercial center within Eton City since
last year, your Company positions the Commercial
leasing segment for growth. We are happy to report
that these developments have been capturing strong
interesis from business locators and we are currently
generating several inquiries.

As the market regains confidence as influenced by
economic stability and strong consumer spending,
Eton is anticipating more retail store openings across
its commercial properties and retail districts in Metro
Manila and 5ta. Rosa, Laguna in 2024,

Residential leasing on the other hand, decreased its
leasable space in the year, from 47,030 square meters in
2022 to 35,377 sqguare meters in 2023, ending the year
with a 53% occupancy rate. Meanwhile, Eton's serviced
residences segment — The Mini Suites at Eton Tower
Makati contributed to the revenue by capitalizing on
the rebound travel demand in the final quarter,

Eton anticipates steady growth with its renewed
focus on sales activities. Complementing the leasing

segment’s performance, Eton bolstered its financial
position as it achieved an accumulated income
of Php 137 million from the sale of its residential
projects 68 Roces in Quezon City and four (4)
subdivisions, such as South Lake Village, RiverBend,
TierraBela, and West Wing Residences at Eton City
in Sta. Rosa, Laguna.

In our pursuit of operational efficiency, Eton
continues to invest in its workforce and digital
technology to streamline the processes and optimize
resources for better productivity and cost efficiencies
across departments and business units.

As a responsible corporate citizen, CSR initiatives
are one of its core priorities as we recognize the
importance of creating a positive impact on the
society, especially in the communities where
Eton operates. Over the years, supporting local
communities, enhancing government relations and
yvouth empowerment remain our top advocacies.

With Eton’s enduring strategy te diversity revenue
streams, Eton continues to oversee the Lucio Tan
Group's participation in the joint venture with
Ayala Land, facilitated through ALl Eton Property
Development Corporation. This collaboration
underscores its commitment to strategic
partnerships and expansion opportunities with
joint venture project, Parklinks, rapidly progressing
towards delivering the country’s premier “greenest
urban estate® in a sprawling 35-hectare township.

While we celebrate milestones, we acknowledge
the challenges that lie ahead, including economic
uncertainties and market disruptions, among others.
However, we are confident in our ability to adapt,
innovate, and capitalize on emerging opporiunities.

Locking into the future, Eton perseveras fo evaluate
opportunities in Eton City property in Sta. Rosa,
Laguna and continue to explore joint-venture
opporiunities with contemporaries in real estate
to enhance this development. Plans to develop
an integrated township in Mactan, Cebu is in
the pipeline. In the next two years, Eton targets
to launch a new hotel brand and two (2) low to
medium density residential communities envisionad

to be oases in urban Metro Manila, capturing a
niche market. These alongside opening more sales
inventery from our high-rise developments and
enhancing its after-sales services to sustain the
growth and create more value for its stakeholders.

| would like to express my immense gratitude
to Eton's shareholders for their unrelenting trust
and suppeort, to our dedicated management and
team members for the hard work and commitment
in delivering satisfaction to its consumers, and
more importantly, to its valued customers for their
confidence in Eton.

Together, let us navigate through the challenges,
seize opportunities and shape every tomorrow.

Mr. Kyle C. Tan
PRESIDENT | CE
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CARMEN K. TAN
Director

LUCID C. TAN
Chairman

Lucio C. Tan Chairman of
Philippine Airfines, Inc., Asia Brewery
Inc., LT Group, Inc., MacroAsia Corp,,
Fortune Tobacco Corp., PMFIC, Inc.,
Grandspan Development Corp.,
Himmel Industries Inc, Lucky
Travel., PAL Holdings, Inc., Air
Philippines Corporation, Tanduay
Distilters, Inc.,, The Charter House,
Inc., AlliedBankers Insurance Corp.,
Absolut Distillers, Inc., Progressive
Farms, Inc., Foremost Farms,
Inc., Maranaw Hotels & Resort
Corporation, Eton City, Inc,, Belton
Communities, Inc. Eton Hotels &
Leisure, Inc. (formerly, FirstHomes,
Inc.), Allianz PNB Life Insurance, Inc.,
PMNEB Holdings Corporation and Basic
Holdings Corp.

Carmen K. Tan Vice Chairman of
Philippine Airlines, Inc.; Director and
farmer Vice-Chairman of LT Group,
Inc.; Director of Air Philippines
Corporation, Asia Brewery, Inc,
Buona Sorte Holdings, Inc,, Foremost
Farms, Inc., Dynamic Holdings Ltd,,
Eton City, Inc., Fartune Tobacco
Carporation, Himmel Industries,
Inc., MacroAsia Corporation,
PAL Holdings, Inc, PMFIC Inc,
Progressive Farms, Inc, Tanduay
Distillers, Inc., Manufacturing
services and Trade Corparation,
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KYLE C. TAN
Director/President &t CEO

LUCIOC. TAN T
Director

Sipalay Trading Corporation, Saturn
Holdings, Inc., Tangent Holdings
Corporation, Trustmark Holdings
Corporation and Zuma Holdings
and Management Carporation.

Kyle C. Tan Director of Maranaw
Hotels & Resort Corp., PNB Global
Remittance and Financial Co. (HK)
Ltd., Allied Club, Inc., Grandspan
Development Carporation, Victorias
Milling Company, Inc.; Director and
COO of Himmel Industries, Inc. and
Manufacturing Services & Trade
Corporation; Director and Treasurer
of Macrofsia Corporation; Director
and Vice-Chairman of Pan Asia
securities Corporation; Executive
Vice-President of Tanduay Distillers,
inc.; Vice-President of Kilter Realty
& Development Corporation.

Lucio C. Tan lll Director, President
and Chief D\Ijerating Officer of
Tanduay Distillers, Inc ; President
and Director of LT Group, Inc;
Vice Chairman and President of
Sabre Travel Network Phils. Inc.
Vice President and Director of
PAL Holdings, Inc., a publicly
listed company: Vice President
of Dunmore Development
Corporation; Director of Ali-Eton
Praperty Development Corp, Air

KARLU T. SAY
Director

VIVIENNE K. TAN
Director

Philippines Corporation, Allied
Club, Inc., Allied Water Services,
Inc.,, Asia's Emerging Dragon
Corporation, Belton Communities,
Inc.. Eton City, Inc., First Homes, Inc,
Fortune Landequities and Resources,
Inc., Lufthansa Technik Philippines,
MacroAsia Airport Services Corp,
MacroAsia Corporation (a Eublicly
listed company), Macrodsia Catering
Services, Inc.. Macrodsia SATS Food
Industries, MacroAsia SATS Inflight
Services Corp.. PMFTC, Philippine
Airlines, Inc., PNE Holdings
Corﬁoratian, Philippine National
Bank (a publicly listed company),
and Prior Holdings Corp., and
former Director of Victonias Millin
Company, Inc., a publicly liste
company,

Karlu T. Say Founder and Director
of Dang-A Pharma Phils., Inc;
Director of Eton Properties
Management Corporation;
Director of Alliedbankers Insurance
Corporation; Director and President
of PNB Holdings Corparation

Vivienne K. Tan Director of Philippine
Mational Bank and LT Group, Inc,;
Board of Trustee of University of
the East and University of the East
Ramon Magsaysay Memorial Medical

WILFRIDO E SANCHEZ
Diirector

CIRILD P. NOEL
Director

Center; Founding Chairperson of
Entrepreneurs 5chool of Asig;
Founding Trustee of Philippine
Center for Entrepreneurship (Go
Megosya), Phils.

Wilfrido E. Sanchez Tax Counsel
of Quiason Makalintal Barot Torres
Ibarra & 5Sison Law Offices; Board
of Trustees of Asian Institute of
Management (AIM); Director of
Amon Trading Corp,, EEI Corporation,
House of Investments, Inc., JVR
Foundation, Inc., Kawasaki Motor
Corp., Magellan Capital Holdings,
Corp., Transnational Diversified
Corp., Transnational Financial
Services, Inc, Universal Robina Corp,,
LT Group, Inc., Asia Brewery, Inc,,
Tanduay Distillers, Inc,, Emcor, Inc,
J-Del Investment and Management
Corporation, Center for Leadership
& Change, Inc., K Servico, Inc,,
Adventure International Tours, Inc,
Gokongwei Brothers Foundation,
Petnet, Inc.,, Transnational Plans, Inc,
Asiabest E-rouF International Inc. and
Trimotors Technology Corp.

Cirilo P. Noel Chairman of Palm
Concepcion Power Corporation;
Independent Director of Globe
Telecom, Inc., St. Luke's Medical
Center, and 5an Miguel Foods and

MARY G. NG
Independent Director

ELAINE Y. CD
Independent Director

Beverage, Inc,; Director of Amber
Kinetics Holdings Co., Pte. Lid, LH
Paragon Inc, Cal Comp Technology
(Philippines) Inc., 5t. Luke's Medical
Center College of Medicine, JG
Summit Holdings, Inc, Secunty Bank
Corporation, 5t. Luke's Foundation,
and Transnational Diversified Group.

Mary G. Ng Chief Executive Officer of
H&E Group of Companies; Honorary
President of the Packaging Institute
of the Philippines, the Philippine
Plastic industrial Assaciation of the
Philippines, and the Association of
Volunteer Fire Chiefs and Firefighters
of the Philippines; Chairman of
the ASEAN Federation of Plastic
Industries (AFPI); Executive Vice-
President of Federation of Flipino-
Chinese Chamber of Commerce and
Industries; Tripartite Board Member
of the Department of Labor and
Employment and Tripartite Member
of National Tripartite Council;
Board member of the Technical
Educational and Skills Development
Authority (TESDA); Vice-President
of Philippine Piak C Eng Chamber
of Commerce and Philippine Piak
O Eng Uy's Association; Director
of Philippine Dongshi Townmate
Association, Inc; Independent
Director of LT Group, Inc. and ABIC

ATTY. ARMNEL PACIAND
D CASANOWVA

Independent Director

CHESTER LUY
Special Adviser i
the Board

Insurance.

Elaine Y. Co Independent Director
for PNB Holdings Corporation.

Arnel Paciano D. Casanova SVP
& Chief External and Government
Affairs Officer of MERALCO, a
publicly listed company.

Chester Luy Director, Philippine
Mational Bank, PNB Global
Remitance and Finance Corporation,
PNE Europe, PNE Mizuho, Tanduay
Distillers, Inc,; Board Advisor of
Lucio Tan Group, Inc.
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This year's annual report theme is “Stimulating Growth, Motivating Action.” The
theme embodies Eton Properties’ current progressive business strategy to be creative,
purposeful and intentional today to influence the direction of tomorrow.

For over 16 years, Eton has come a long way in its mission to create fresh growth
initiatives that would strengthen its strategic investments and solidify its market
position. Simultaneously, Eton’s unwavering priorities on employee engagement and
development, innovation, and a customer-centric approacﬁ cultivate a culture of
motivation and innovation within the organization. This harmonious blend of growth
and proactive engagement then propels its commitment to fostering a positive impact
on both our internal audience and the communities which we serve.

12 | About the Cover




Performance Highlights

@ carousel Eton Properties exhibited a remarkable business performance

Property K Awards throughout the year 2023, maintaining profitability and achiey-
ing notable milestones. With an unwavering commitment to
stakeholder interests and meticulous attention to detail Eton's
leasing business portfolio emerged as the primary revenue
driver, underpinning its financial stability.

Eto & . Additionally, Eton's dedication to good financial management

prﬂpert195 was evident in maintaining robust retained earnings and a

healthy gross profit margin, resulting in a 152% surge in net

income. This financial achievement, boosted by the renewed

Best Mixed-Use focus on sales, has paved the way to sustain its growth and
Developer expand its investment opportunities in 2023,

Cne of the income highlights of Eton was the successful
negotiation of 3 memorandum of agreement with Alfamart
R Philippines, a rapidly expanding retail chain, This strategic
Carausall Philippines partnership aims to expand Alfamart's presence by strategically
CIEEEED placing super mini-marts around Eton's projects, enhancing
convenience for residents and visitors, while contributing to

the vibrancy of our developments.

=70N

o THE DAL 8
S SUCCESS: 8

Furthermore, Eton has been proactive in leveraging its assets by building improvements across
all its existing projects. These enhancements not only augment the aesthetic appeal and
functionality of the developments, but alsc serve to increase their overall value, demonstrating
= commitment to delivering satisfactory real estate sclutions.

Eton Properties also received the “Best Mixed-Use Developer” recognition at the Carousell
Property Awards 2023, This award solidifies its position as one of the leaders in the real estate
industry, and underscores its commitment to quality in developing mixed-use projects.

In addition to operational accomplishments, Eton remains deeply committed to making a positive
impact on the communities. Through varous CSR initiatives, including community outreach
programs, environmental sustainability efforts, and educational initiatives, Eton continues to
nurture and uplift communities where Eton projects are located.

To stimulate growth, Eton's steadfast commitment to overall excellence, coupled with strategic
partnerships and prudent financial management positions, Eton aims to continue the growth
and stability in the dynamic real esiate landscape. It remains dedicated o meeting the evolving
needs of its clientele, while driving long-term value for its stakeholders,

14 | 2023 Performance Highlights Performance Highlights | 15
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Eton Properties has long been recognized as a pioneer in
the development of mixed-use projects, setting the bench-
mark for excellence in the real estate industry. Recently,
Eton reaffirmed its position as the premier developer in
this field by clinching the “Best Mixed-Use Developer”
recognition at the 2023 Carousell Property Awards . This
remarkable achievement, not only highlights Eton Properties’
unparalleled expertise in crafting dynamic and integrated
spaces, but also underscores its unwavering commitment
to innovation and quality.
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Eton City

Eton City is a fulfillment of Eton’s commitment to creating lush
and vibrant communities. Located in Sta. Rosa, Laguna, the
600-hectare property is an integrated township development
that seamlessly merge residential, commercial, and recreational
elements, offering residents a well-rounded and convenient
lifestyle. Boasting with exclusive neighborhoods, numerous
amenities, and lush green spaces, Eton City provides an ideal
environment for families to thrive and businesses to flourish.

18 | 2023 Featured Projects
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Eton Centris

Eton Centris stands as a 12-hectare IT-BPO lifestyle hub in Quezon City,
embodying Eton Properties’ commitment to creating dynamic urban destinations.
With its strategic location and carefully thought-out design, Eton Centris offers a
diverse mix of office, commercial, and leisure facilities, catering to the varied needs
of consumers, Boasting with generous office spaces, retail establishments, dining
options, and entertainment venues, Eton Centris has become a thriving business
district and lifestyle center in the heart of Quezon City. Its vibrant atmosphere make
it a sought-after destination for both work and leisure.

: F“
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Eton WestEnd Square, situated within the bustling district of Makati City,
represents Eton's commitment to creating dynamic integrated township de-
velopments that redefine urban living. This vibrant nano township seamlessly
integrates office, commercial, residential, and recreational elements, offering
a moedern and convenient lifestyle experience for its residents and visitors
alike. With its innovative architectural design, modern facilities, and strategic
location, Eton WestEnd Square caters to the diverse needs of its community.

sibred Projects | 23
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Blakes Tower

Blakes Tower is a multi-awarded mixed-use building development that brings
the co-work, co-live, and co-play to life. It was awarded as Best-Mixed Use
Development by the Carousell Property Awards in 2022 and in 2021, Blakes
Tower was highly-commended for Best Mega Mixed-Use Development by the
PropertyGuru Philippines Property Awards, Located within the Eton WestEnd
Square integrated nano township development spanning one hectare in
cosmopolitan Makati, this vertical township seamlessly blend office, residential
and commercial units in a single complex, thereby enhancing the dynamic
lifestyle of its occupants.

242023 Featured Projects
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EMPOWERING THE FUTURE: ETON PROPERTIES’

ADVOCACIES FOR POSITIVE CHANGE

In today's rapidly evolving world, the role of corporations extends beyond just delivering prefits; it encompasses
a responsibility to contribute positively to society and the environment. Eton Properties, a significant player in
the real estate industry, exemplifies this ethos through its several Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) programs.
These initiatives reflect Eton's dedication to creating sustainable and inclusive communities, while fostering long-

term societal impact.

Farmer's Assistance Program

Eton Properties continues with its commitment to improve the
lives of the farming community and to provide a susiainable food
source for the future by buying fresh harvests from the farmers
in Mueva Ecija and donating them to different foundations that
support underprivileged communities, The fresh produce was also
offered for sale to all Eton employees all year round.

26 | 2023 Corporate Social Responsibility

Masaganang Palayan (Prosperous Ricefields)

Together with the Tan ¥Yan Kee Foundation, inc. (TYKFI), Eten
Properties donated around 367 kilos of hybrid palay seeds to
assist more than 20 farmers in Mueva Vizcays te sustain their
supply requirements. With the donation, the hybnd palay
seeds can help farmers yield up to 120 sacks per hectare,
and they can help cover approximately 30 hectares of rice
fields, bringing up to an estimated 3,600 sacks of palay per
harvest. The donation of hybrid palay seeds are in support
of the Eton-TYKFI's Masaganang Palayan Project, which
aims to assist farmers in meeting their agricultural needs
and ensuring sustainability.

19th Mational Mango Festival Eton Centris, Quezon City
Eton Properties is a staunch supporter of public-private sector
partnership. In May 2023, its Quezon City commercial complex
— Eton Centris hosted the three-day 19th Mational Mango
Festival led by the Department of Agriculture. The event gathered
different sectors, groups, farmers, among others, to promote
various public agricultural projects and programs.

Renewal of Vows

In a hearbwarming display of love and commitmant, the Renewa
of Vows ceremony, facilitated by the Office of the Vice Mayor
of Quezon City, held at the Centris Elements in Quezon City
brought together arcund 1,600 couples from various barangays
in the city. In collaboration with Eton Properties, the cerernony
marked a significant moment for the couples to reaffirm their
enduring commitment to each other,

R

Concordia Children’s Services, Inc.

Eton Properties demonstrated its commitment to social
responsibility by reaching out to Concordia Children's
Services, Inc. in-a philanthropic initiative. The company chese
to make a positive impact by donating toys and hygiens
kits for the benefit of the children under Concordia’s care.
This thoughtful gesture not only reflects Eton Properties’
dedication to C5R but also underscores its recognition
of the importance of supporting organizations that work
towards the well-being and development of vulnerable
communities. Through this collaboration, Eton Properties
contributes to creating a brighter and healthier future for
the children at Concordia Children's Services, fostering a
sense of community and compassion.

Bike-to-Work Festival

The Bike-to-Work Festival, in partnership with the Department
of Health, was a vibrant celebration that promoted the use of
bicycles as a sustainable and heatthy mode of commuting, This
festival encouraged individuals to choose cycling as a practical
and eco-friendly way to trave! to their workplaces. Held in varicus
cities, the Bike to Woark Festival which kicked-off in Eton Centris
in Quezan City featured a range of activities and initiatives to
support and celebrate cycling commuters.
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EMPOWERING THE FUTURE: ETON PROPERTIES’

ADVOCACIES FOR POSITIVE CHANGE

Parol-Making Contest

Eton Properties and the Quezon City Government have joined
forces once again for Kumukutikutitap Il a fective celebration
that recognizes and honors the Best Barangays for their
cutstanding parol displays. This collaborative effort showcases
the spirit of unity and community engagement, bringing
together Eton Properties’ commitment to excellence and
the Quezon City Government's dedication to fostering local
pride and creativity, The event serves as a vibrant platform to
celebrate the holiday season, encouraging a sense of shared joy

and accomplishment among residents and participants alike.
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Burnout Festival

Burnout has been a global phenomencn that affects anyone and
anywhere. Filipinos are not exempied as burnout has become a
growing concern ameong the younger generations. This trend that
injected physical, emotional, and mental exhaustion is a result of
proionged stress and overwork: To address the prevalence of burnout
in the Philippines, Eton Properties, in partnership with the Office of
Senator Risa Hontiveros, held the first-ever Burnout Festival at Eton
Centris open grounds in Quezon City that was marked by a mural
in the property as a constant reminder of this advocacy.

Providing a venue for Filipino talents

Through regular musical events held every Fridays and Saturdays
in one of its flagship properties, Eton Centris, Eton Properties is
able to provide a venue for budding local talents to showcase their
musical prowess, Through partnerships with independent preduction
companies, Eton Centris has seen talents perform in the property
even before they became mainstream and got famous.

Educational Assistance

In February 2023, Eton Properties through the Tan Yan Kee
Foundation and Philippine National Bank, awarded two
children as beneficiaries of Php 100,000, Their parents dreamt
for them to finish their education and in a way, Eton helped
them to achieve their parents’ dreams.

Lucio Tan Group of Companies

,.pf,“ i ok i e il Tan Tal FEE
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Youth Creativity Festival

Eton Properties, together with the Philippine Association
of Mational Advertisers Foundation, made waves as it
successfully hosted the Youth Creativity Festival at Eton
Centris on October 20 to 21, 2023, The event drew in
renowned influencers and content creators who shared
valuable insights and experiences with the enthusiastic
attendess, On the second day of the festival, the spotiight
shifted to the PANAnawdwards, where five finalist colleges
presented their communication plans in a bid to clinch the
coveted title for the year. The vibrant atmosphere at Eton
Centris showcased not only the creativity and innovation of
the youth, but also the dynamic and forward-thinking spirit
that the annual svent continues to foster within the industry.

Drug-free Philippines

Eton Properties Philippires joined 30 other private
companies with the whole-of-nation approach in combatting
illegal drug use being employed by the Department of Loca
and Interior and Local Government (DILG) in the recently
held "Buhay Ingotan, Droga’y Ayawan (BIDA)" Private
Partnership Launch in Quezon City last May 2023, Eton
Properties pledged to promote the anti-drug campaign
through one million worth of highly-visible cutdoor media
advertising cppaortunities in its flagship properties in Quezon
City and 5ta. Rosa, Laguna. Eton will alsc implement a drug
policy and subject its employees to random drug tests, as
part of the Memorandum of Understanding with the DILG

HRTEY),

CREATHIT

2023 Corporate Social Responsibility | 29



Our Sustainability Journey

Towards a Brighter Tomorrow

In the ever-evaolving landscape of modern business, sustainability has emerged as a paramount concern,
encompassing economic prosperity, environmental stewardship, and social equity. Eton Properties, cognizant
of its role as a corporate steward, has made sustainability a significant part of its operations, striving to
strike a harmonious balance between growth and responsibility.

With an unwavering commitment to meet the needs of the present while safeguarding the interests of
future generations, Eton Properties remains steadfast in its pursuit of sustainability. Eten recognizes the
value of integrating sustainable practices into its business model, ensuring not only its own longevity, but
also the preservation of resources for the benefit of fuiure generafions,

Our approach to materiality

Our path towards sustainability is guided by our Matenality Assessment process, which commenced in
2019 and persisted through 2023, Through a thorough examination of various sources and workshops,
we evaluated and identified the most critical material issues with the potential to significantly impact both
the internal operations of the Company and its external stakeholders. From a comprehensive list of 44
material issues, we successfully prioritized 21 top matenial concerns, which were subseguently validated by
Management Officers. In 2023, following extensive discussions and consultations, these 21 material topics
parsist as the most significant to both the Group and our stakeholders

Good Governance

Eton Properties is committed to uphelding principles of good governance, ensuring transparency, accountability,
and ethical conduct across all levels of the organization. Eton's govemance framework 1s designed to promote
integrity, fairness, and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

Economic Performance

Eton Properties consistently demonsirates strong economic performance, characterized by sustainakble growth
and financial stability. Through prudent financial management and strategic investments, Eton has achieved
steady revenue growth and maintained profitability even in challenging market conditions. Eton's robust
financial performance is a testament to its sound business strategies, effective risk management practices,
and commitment to delivering value to shareholders. Eton Properties continues to pursue opportunities
for expansion and diversification, contributing positively to the overall economic landscape and enhancing
shareholder value.

Anti-Corruption and Anti-Competitive Behavior

Eton Properties maintains a zero-tolerance policy towards corruption and anti-competitive practices. Eton
has robust anti-corruption measures in place, including strict codes of conduct and compliance policies,
to prevent unethical behavior and ensure fair competition in the marketplace.
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Ethical Operation / Anti-Corruption

Eton Properties continues to maintain a zero-tolerance towards corruption. Eton implemented strict
measures in place, including codes of conduct and compliance policies, to prevent unethical behavior
and ensure fair competition in the marketplace.

Human Rights Protection

Respect for human rights is 2 fundamental aspect of Eton Properties’ business operations. Eton is committed
to upheolding the rights and dignity of all individuals, including employees, customers, suppliers, and
communities, and it strive to create a workplace and business environment that is free from discrimination,
harassment, and exploitation.

Socio-Economic and Environmental Compliance

Eton Properties is dedicated to environmental compliance, ensuring that all operations should adhere
to relevant laws, regulations, and standards aimed at protecting the environment, Eton conducts reqular
assessments and audits to monitor the environmental performance and identify opportunities for
improvement,

Supply Chain Management

Eton Properties recognizes the importance of responsible supply chain management. Eton work closely
with its suppliers to ensure ethical and sustainable practices throughout the supply chain. including fair
labor practices, environmental sustainability, and adherence to social responsibility standards.

Materials Stewardship

Eton Properties focuses on sustainable materals management, aiming to minimize waste generation and
maximize recycling and reuse initiatives. Eton priontizes the use of environmentally friendly materials
and promote sustainable procurement practices.

Resource Efficiency (Water, Energy, Fuel, Waste)
Eton Properties implements measures to conserve resources and minimize environmental impact, including
water and energy conservation and waste reduction.

Climate Change / GHG Emission

Eton Properties is committed to addressing climate change through mitigation and adaptation
measures. Eton invests in climate-resilient infrastructure, implement energy efficiency initiatives,
and support renewable energy projects to reduce carbon footprint and enhance climate resilience.

Environmental Compliance
Eton Properties is dedicated to environmental compliance, ensuring that Eton's operations adhere to relevant
laws, requlations, and standards aimed at protecting the environment. Eton conducts regular assessments

and audits to monitor its envircnmental performance and identify opportunities for improvement.

Employment

Eton Properties values its employess and is committed to promoting their health, safety, and well-being.
It provides a safe and supportive work environment, offering competitive compensation and benefits, and
prioritizes employee development and career advancement opportunities.
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Our Sustainability Journey

Employee Skills and Competency Development (Training)

Eton Properties invests in employee training and development programs to enhance skills, knowledge, and
competencies, Eton provides ongoing training opportunities to support professional growth and ensure that
all employees are equipped to meet the evolving needs of its business,

People Safety / Security and Wellbeing

Eton prioritize the well-being and security of the employees, customers, and visitors across all of properties and
operations. Rigorous safety protocols and measures are implemented to identify and mitigate potential risks,
ensuring a secure environment for everyone. Eton continuously assess and address safety concerns, striving
to maintain high standards and promote a culture of safety awarensss and compliance. Eton’s commitment

to safety underscores our dedication to providing a secure and protected experience for all stakeholders.

Labor Relations and Diversity
Eton Properties fosters positive labor relations and promotes diversity and inclusion in the workforce,

Community Relations

Eton Properties actively sngages with local communities to support their social and economic
development. Eton collaborates with local stakeholders, support community initiatives, and
contribute to projects that enhance the well-being and gquality of life of community members.

Customer Satisfaction
Eton Properties priontizes customer satisfaction and engagement at every stage. We strive to exceed expectations,
listening to feedback and innovating our offerings to meet evolving needs. Eton's commitment to exceptional

experiences ensures that every interaction with Eton is positive and rewarding for our customers,

Customer Health and Safety
Eton Properties ensures the health and safety of customers through safe and secure products and services,

Customer Data Privacy and Security

Eton Properties safeguards customer data privacy and security through robust data protection measures.

Marketing and Labeling

Eton Properties engages in ethical marketing practices and provides transparent labeling of products.

Market Presence
Eton Properties maintains a strong market presence through effective branding, marketing, and customer
engagement strategises,
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Our Sustainable Journey

Eton Properties is committed to sustainability across all aspects of its operations, recognizing the
importance of balancing economic growth, environmental stewardship, and social responsibility. This
susiainable journey is guided by a comprehensive approach that encompasses various initiatives aimed at
minimizing our envircnmental footprint, promoting social well-being, and fostering economic resilience,
From implementing energy-efficient practices and reducing greenhouse gas emissions to prioritizing
employee development and community engagement, Eton Properties integrates sustainability info ifs
core business practices. Through continuous improvement, Eton strive to create value for its stakeholders,

while safeguarding the planet for future generations. Eton remains steadfast in its commiiment to

sustainability, embracing it as a fundamental pillar of cur corporate philosophy and long-term strategy.
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Corporate Governance

I Year 2020, Eton Froperties Philippines, Inc. developed its Revised Corporate Governance Manual
(RCGM) in accordance with the principles of good corporate gevernance and adopted provisions
of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Code of Govemance for Public Companises as
provided in SEC Memorandum Circular Mo, 24, Senes of 2019 to achieve greater transparency and

accountability in the conduct of its corporate business.

The RCGM institutionalizes the principles of good corporate governance and serves as the basic
reference in the implementation of the prindiples of good corporate governance and sesks to
inform shareholders, board members, corporate officers and employees of their duties and
expected norms of conduct within the corporate system. The Revised Corparate Governance
Manual is disclosed on the company's website. hitps,//eton.com.ph/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/
Eton-ROGM-with-5EC-stamp_compressed. pdf

Eton submitted the Annual Corporate Governance Report (ACGR) to the SEC in compliance with
SEC Memorandum 13 Series of 2021 on 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023. The ACGR is a require-
ment which requires public companies to disclose the company's compliance or noncompliance
with the recommendations provided under the SEC Memorandum Circular No. 24, Series of 2019,

The ACGR is disclosed on the company’s website,

ACGR covering year 2021: hitpsy//eton.com.ph/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/2021-AC-
GR-03)une2022-FINAL-versicn.pdf

ACGR covening year 2022: httpsy//eton.com.ph/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/202 3-Annual-Cor-
porate-Governance-Report-ACGR.pdf
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is selected during Eton's
Annual Stockholders” Mesting and serves as the
highest governing body. The Board is responsible
for ensuring that Efton practices sound corporate
governance, The Board sets the company's vision and
mission, its strategic goals, and managemeant policies
and procedures and framework for performance
evaluation,

Eton's Board is composed of eleven (11) members
or such number as the Articles of Incorporation
may provide. The majority of the Board consist of
Mon-Executive Directors who possess the necessary
gualifications to effectively participate and help
secure ocbjective, independent judgemeni on
corporate affairs and to substantiate proper checks
and balances.

The Board of Directors is elected during the
Stockholders' Meeting. It is mandated to serve as 3
check and balance on the Eton's management and
to perform executive powers as vested in it by the
Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws or delegated
by the Shareholders, in accordance with existing
laws, rules, and regulations. It shall have a Board
Charter where the Board's roles, responsibilities,
and accountabilities shall be stated,

The Board of Directors elected for the year 2023 are
Lucio C. Tan, Carmen K. Tan, Kyle Ellis C. Tan, Lucio
C. Tan I, Karlu T. Say, Vivienne K. Tan, Cirilo P. Noel,
Wilfrido E. Sanchez; and independent directors, Mary
. Mg, Elaine ¥, Co., and Amel Cazanova.

Board Committees

The Board is assisted by several committees
to aid in complying with the principles of
good corporate governance and may, from
time to time, create special commitiees to

handle special issues of concern to the Board.

Eton has four {4) Board Commitiees namely,
Audit and Risk Committee, Nomination and
Remuneration Committes, Executive Committes
and Corporate Governance Commitiee. Each
Bcard Commitiee is created for a specific
purpose and is tasked to oversee the necessary
details in the operations of Eton, including
compliance with its principles of good governance.

The Charters for sach Committee are disclosed
on the company's website, Communication
are set forth in the Information Statement
and published in the Investor Relations Page
of the Eton's website at www.eton.com.ph.

Corporate Governance Committee

Ms. Vivienne K. Tan
As. Elaine ¥. Co {Independent Director)
Mr. Kyle Ellis C. Tan
Ms. Mary G. Mg (Independent Director)
Atty. Arnel P. Casanova (Independent Director)

Momination and Remuneration Committee

D, Lucio C. Tan

Mr. Kyle Ellis C. Tan

Ms. Mary G. Mg (Independent Director)

Ms. Elaine ¥. Co (Independent Director)

Atty. Arnel P. Casanova (Independent Director)

Audit and Risk Management Committee

Ms. Mary G. Mg (Chairpersen and Lead
Independent Director)

Atty. Wilfrido E. Sanchez

Mr. Cirile P. Neel

Ms. Elaine Y. Co (Independent Director)

Atty. Arnel P. Casanova (Independent Director)

Executive Committee

D, Lucio €, Tan
Ms. Carmen K. Tan
Mr. Lucio C, Tan Il
Mr. Kyle Ellis C. Tan
Ms. Vivienne K. Tan
Ms. Karlu T. Say
1. Mary G. Mg (Independent Director)

Duties and Responsibilities
The Board exercises its duties and responsibilities
to foster long-term success of the company and
sustain its competitiveness and profitability in a
manner consistent with its objectives and in the best
interest of its shareholders and other stakeholders.
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Corporate Governance

The Officers

The Chairman of the Board is separate from the President and Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), with separate individual
roles and respensibilities, to have clear defined responsibilities, effective decision making and good governance.

POSITION
CHAIRMAN

NAME
DR. LUCIO C. TAN

VICE CHAIRMAN

MS. CARMEN K. TAN

PRESIDENT AND CEC

MR. KYLE ELLIS C. TAN

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

AR. ADRIANO T. CHUA

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

MS. MARIA CELESTE C. MUTUC

CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER

ENGR. JOHN PAUL L. DE JESUS

CORPORATE SECRETARY

ATTY. ALEX B. CARPELA JR.

TREASURER

MS. CHRISTINE L. ONG

CHIEF AUDIT EXECUTIVE

M5. MAE ANN C. HUGO

DATA PROTECTION OFFICER

MR. GERARDO |. MAURICIO

In the same year, the Board has appointed
Mz, Mutuc as the Chief Risk Officer and Investor
Relations Officer of EPPL

Meetings and Attendance

The Corporate Secretary assists the Board and the
Board Committees in the conduct of mestings, safe
keeps and preserves the integrity of the minutes of
the meetings of the Board, Board Committees and
shareholders,

Orientation and Continuing Education Programs
for Directors

Prior assuming office, all new Directors are provided
with materials to inform them of the operations of Eton
and lts subsidiaries. They shall be reguired to undergo
orientation program which will enable them to be
informed of Eton's business, corporate structure, vision,
mizsion, and all other matters necessary for the effective
perfarmance of their duties and responsibilities.

Mew Directors are also required to undergo the annual
training seminar on corporate governance,
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Eton believes in continuing education for its Board and
personnel. All are reguired to undergo an orientation
program to ensure that they are equipped with the
needed information for the fulfillment of their duties

and responsibilities.

Trainings and Seminars
1. Corpaorate Governance

The Corporate Governance Seminar, which was
conducted by SGV & Co., was attended by Board of
Directors on 24 October 2023 via Zoom and The Firm
has issued Certificates of Attendance to all participants
who attended the Corporate Governance Seminar,

2. Anti-Money Laundering Act (AMLA)

InYear 2021, pursuant to the Anti-Money Laundering Act
{AMLA} of 2001, as amended by Republic Act Mo. 11521,
real estate developers are now considered covered.
The Board of Directors and Key Officers attended and
completed the Anti-Money Laundering/Counter Terrorism
Financing (AML/CTF) Webinar for Designated MNon-
Financial Businesses and Professions (DNFEPs) and
successfully secured their respective Certificates of
Participation in Year 2023,

The employees were also encouraged to attend AMLA
courses conducted by the Anti-Money Laundering Council
(AMLC). Moreover, as part of the compliance program
and to prevent Eton from being used intentionally or
unintentionally for money laundering and terrorism
financing activities, in-house seminars on AMLA and
the salient points of the Money Laundering,

Terrorist Financing Program [MTPP) Manual were also
provided for Sales and Leasing to strengthen their
knowledge of the requirements of AMLA,

3. Code of Conduct and Business Ethics/Policies

On 21-22 of June 2023, 29-30 of June 2023 and 5-6
of July 2023, Eton conducted an orientation of HR
Policies and Procedures Program which covers the
Code of Conduct and Business Ethics, Directors’ &
Officers’ Crientation/Training Program & Policy and
Board Committee Charters to its employees/directors/
officers to ensure clear understanding of the provisions
of the Code and Policy and it was attended by various
participants across the organization.

4. Enterprise Risk Management Training/Workshop

In line with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) Memorandum Circular No. 24, Series of 2019
dated 19 December 2019 adopting a Code of Corporate
Governance for Public Companies and ETON Revised
Corporate Governance Manual, Reyes Tacandong &
Co. presented to Management about Enterprise Risk
Management (ERM} on 02 December 2021,

On 03 March 2022, Reyes Tacandong & Co. firm
conducted ETON Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)
Training Workshop and a three-day ERM workshop from
March 8-10, 2022, was likewise conducted by various
participants from different departments and divisions
across the organization,

Annual Assessment

The Board conducts annual assessment of its performance
not later than December 31 of every year.

Annual Stockholders Meeting (ASM)

The Annual Stockholders Meeting was held virtually on
31 May 2023 in light of the public health emergency
caused by the Covid-1% pandemic and in accordance
with the applicable notice reguirements, voting rights,
and procedures.

Compliance Officer

On 31 May 2023 during the Organizational Meeting of
the Board of Directors, Engineer John Paul L. De Jesus

was appointed as the Chief Compliance Officer of Eton.
Business Units and Subsidiaries

Eton's main business units are: office leasing, commercial

rentals, residential sales and lzasing, and hotel serviced
residences.

The subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

a. Eton City, Inc. {hereinafter, “ECI"} is a wholly owned
subsidiary incorporated in 2008. It is one of two flagship
township projects of Eton, dubbed as the Makati of the
South, Its aim 15 to create vibrant lifestyle communities
for middle and high-end market. Eton's projects for the
past three years include South Lake Village, Riverbend,
Village Walk and TierraBela, all located in Sta. Rosa,
Laguna. In 2023, ECl completed the construction of the
first and commercial center that will serve communities
in Eton City, it is an ideal space for families, friends and
travelers to come together with its relaxed atmosphere
and array of services and conveniences the Eton City
Square.

b. Belton Communities, Inc. (hereinafter, "BCI") is a
wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in 2007. It caters
to the middle-income market segment. From well-
tocated communities to exciting amenities and features,
BCTs projects are ideal for families who want a home
that they can proudly call their own. BCTs first foray in
creating a family-centric neighborhood is Morth Belton
Communities, a 10.8-hectare development consisting
of three residential enclaves: The Manaors, West Wing
Residences and West Wing Villas,

c. Eton Hotels & Leisure. Inc (hereinatter, “EHLI"} is
a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in 2010, Its
primary purpose is to manage and operate hotels,
resorts, apartelles, serviced apartments and other
hozpitality facilities, buildings, houses, apartments and
other structures and immovable and personal properties.

d. Eton Properties Management Corporation (hereinafter,
"EPMCT™) is a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated
in 2011, It 15 a real estate management company
organized to maintain Eton's residential and commercial
projects located in various sites. EPMC commenced its
commercial operations in 20186,

The Revised Corporate Governance Manual shall also
serve as the guideline or framework for all of the
subsidiaries of Eton and to the extent possible and
consistent with their own existing structures,
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Our Business Units

Eton Properties operates across various
business units, each specializing in different aspects of
real estate development and management. These
units work collaboratively to deliver innovative and
sustainable solutions that meet the diverse needs of our
clients and stakeholders.
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Efficiency Redefined

Eton Properties’ flexible office setups remain an attractive selling point to both
traditional companies and the Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) sector. Hence,
Eton has significantly intensified its office leasing operations to accommodate the
industry’s growing needs, notably with the increase in interest to expand from existing
office tenants.

With interational and multinational companies increasingly choosing the Philippines
as location for their regional operating headquarters, regional centers, and marketing
hubs, Eton'’s office developments ensure uninterrupted business operations for those
that would choose to locate here.

Eton’s office developments host over 12,000 employees from some of the world's
largest and most reputable companies with a global presence. These tenants value the
spacious and adaptable layouts of Eton's office spaces, which enhance productivity
for their workforce.

Strategically situated in central business districts like Makati, Quezon City, and Ortigas,
Eton’s office developments offer easy access to transportation options, enabling
tenants to tap into a vast pool of highly qualified workers. Additionally, tenants and
office cccupants can enjoy nearby retail, dining, and lifestyle amenities, facilitating a
seamless transition between work and leisure activities.

OFFICES BY ETON

QUEZOMN CITY » MAKAT] « ORTIGAS

I
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ETON RETAIL

DIST

Creating Vibrant
Destinations

Eton Properties has consistently expanded its presence in the

LIVE THE MOMENT

commercial leasing sector by implementing effective strat-
egies aimed at attracting increased foot traffic and revenue
for its business partners, enticing more retail establishments
to create their presence across various projects.

Eton’s commercial leasing endeavors are founded on the
principle of offering diverse formats in burgeoning areas
and within its landmark developments — a principle poised to
remain effective in the dynamic industry landscape. Serving
as focal points within each development, Eton Properties’
diverse commercial ventures provide secure environments for
individuals to meet both their essential and lifestyle needs.
Currently boasting approximately 45,000 square meters of
leasable retail space, Eton Properties anticipates the opening
of additional retail outlets in its commercial properties located
in Makati, Quezon City, and Sta. Rosa, Laguna throughout
2024. With consumer confidence on the rise, demand for
commercial spaces remains robust, underscoring clients’ trust

in Eton Properties’ ability to future-proof their businesses
and support their operational endeavors. Eton has observed
the inauguration of several commercial establishments in
the recent years, with more slated to commence operations
in 2024,
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Safe and Thriving
Spaces

Eton Properties offers seamless, hassle-free residential leasing
services for centrally-located homes, presenting end-to-end
assistance across all touchpoints. Eton's diverse range of
residential developments cater to the varied lifestyle needs,
life stages, and aspirations of Filipinos, ensuring that they
thrive in a community tailored to their unique ways of life. With
exceptional accessibility, all developments are strategically
located within close-proximity to essential amenities such as
transportation hubs, educational institutions, healthcare facilities,
and recreational destinations, enabling residents to experience
the epitome of urban living. As Eton Properties looks towards the
future, its unwavering commitment remains steadfast in assisting
Filipinos in finding homes where they can flourish and prosper.
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Exclusive and
Secure Communities

Eton Properties, ever dedicated to helping Filipinos realize their dream of owning
a home, has prioritized the creation of secure havens for residents, Building upon
this mission, Eton has developed community-centered homes tailored to meet
the needs of Filipino families and their children. Situated in prime locations and
emerging growth centers, these residential spaces have continued to appreciate
over time. Purposefully designed, Eton Properties’ residential developments
pricritize exclusivity and privacy while offering ample shared spaces that facilitate
safe connections and foster a strong sense of community.
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Live large by going “Mini"”

Bringing Hong Kong's successful concept to Manila, Eton Properties’ The Mini
Suites at Eton Tower Makati offers comfort, quality amenities, safety and security,
and friendly staff at an affordable price.

At The Mini Suites, you get everything right at your fingertips. Located at the
heart of Makati's Central Business District, the serviced residences has direct access
to Makati's elevated walkways, making it within comfortable walking distance
to commercial establishments, educational institutions, corporate headquarters,
and main thoroughfares; as well as interesting side streets that afford it a more
laid back and vibrant atmosphere.
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ETOM PREOPRPRERTIES
MANAGEMENT CORPCORATION

Elevating Customer Experience
through Exceptional Property
Management

Since 2017, Eton Properties Management Corporation (EPMC), a wholly-owned
subsidiary, has been dedicated to enhancing the lives of its clients by delivering
unparalleled service round-the-clock. With a steadfast focus on customer satisfaction,
EPMC assists clients with a wide range of property-related needs, from handling
documentary requirements to addressing logistical concerns, ensuring a seamless
experience for all.

At the core of EPMC's approach is a dedication to operational proficiency aimed at
enhancing the value of its properties. By equipping employees with comprehensive
training and modern tools, EPMC fosters a knowledgeable and empowered workforce
capable of delivering top-tier customer satisfaction.

In line with its commitment to quality service, EPMC recently introduced the myepmc.
eton.com.ph tenant portal, providing tenants with personalized login credentials to
expedite requests and address concerns promptly.

Furthermore, EPMC prioritizes the maintenance and upkeep of all properties,
recognizing the direct impact on asset values and clients’ investment returns. Through
cost-effective and innovative business solutions, EPMC empowers clients to maximize

the investment potential of their properties, thereby creating enduring value for both
clients and the community.
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Eton Properties Philippines, Inc.

lii

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The management of Eton Properties Philippines, Inc. and its subsidiaries is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the consoclidated financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, in accordance with the prescribed
financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal confrol as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or emor,

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern and using the
going concemn basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is respensible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements including the
schedules attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

SGV & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has audited the consoclidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and
iy its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the faimess of presentation upon
completion of such audit,

W

Lucio C. Thh
Chairman

Kyle Ellis €. Tan
President

a. Celegte C. Mutuc
Chief Financial Officer

Republic of the Philippines)

) 8.5,

Personally appeared before me the following persons known to me and known to be the same perscns
who executed the foregoing and they acknowledged to me that the same is their free and voluntary act
and deed, in the capacities in which they appear.

The parties presented their respective competent evidence of identity as follows:

Name TIN/SSS/Passport/Driver's License No. Date & Place of Issue
Lucio C. Tan X01-52-000850 July 17, 2016/Quezon City
Kyle Ellis C, Tan

Ma. Celeste C, Mutuc

IN WITNESS W EOQF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed my notarial seal on this
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Lion Properiies Philippines, Ine.

B/F Allied Bank Center. 6754 Avala Avenue
Makati City, Metro Manila, Philippines

Opinion

We have andited the consolidated financial statements of Eton Propertics Philippines. Tne. and its
subsidiaries {the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the consolidated statements of income, consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our |.1p:'r:im|. the .'d::::nrnpun_\,'iny, consolidated (nancial statements of the Ciroup as al

December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for cach of the three vears in the period ended December 31, 2023 arc
prepared in all material respects, in accondance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards { PFRSs),
as modified by the application of the nameial reporling reliels issued and approved by the Secuntios and
Exchange Commission {SEC), as deseribed in Note 2 to the consolidated [inanecial statements.

Basis for Opinipn

We conducted our audils in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our
responstbilities under those standards are [urther deseribed in the dwdiver s Responsibilitios for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Starements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines { Code of Ethics)
tegether with the ethical requirements thatl are relevant to our audil of the conselidated nancial
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics, We believe thal the audit evidence we have oblained is
suflicient and appropriate 1o provide a basis lor our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated lnaneial statements which indicates that the linaneial
statements have been prepared in accordance with PFRSs, as modilied by the application of the financial
reporiing reliels issued and approved by the SEC in response Lo the COVID-19 pandemic, The impuact of
the application of the finaneial reporting reliefs on the 2023 consolidared finaneial statements are
discussed in detail in Mote 2. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matier.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other inlormation comprises the

SEC Form 17-A for the year ended December 31, 2023 butl does nol include the consolidated nancial
statements and our auditor's report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report,
and the SEC Form 20-15 { Delinitive Information Statement ) and Annual Report [or the year ended
December 31, 2023, which are expected Lo be made available o us aller thal date.
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Cur opinion on the consolidated linancial statements docs not cover the other information and we do not
express any lomm of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audils of the consolidated financial stalements, our responsibility is o read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the andit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management 15 responsible Tor the prepartion and Fair presentation ol the consolidated lmancial
statements i accordance with PIRSs, as modilicd by the application of the nancial reporting reliets and
issucd and approved by the SEC. as described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, and for
such inlernal control as managemenl delermines is necessary (o enable the preparation of consolidated
financial stalements that are free rom malenal misstatement, whether due (o fraud or ermor,

In preparing the conselidated [inanecial stalements, management is responsible lor assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. disclosing. as applicable, matters refated to going concem and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic altemative but to do so.

Those charped with governonee are responstble for overseeing the Group’s Oonancial reporting process,
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Owr objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error, and to issuc an auditor’s report
that ineludes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assuranee, bul is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considerad material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skeplicism throughout the audil. We also:

s [dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the conselidated financial stalements,
whether due 1o fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
oblain audil evidence thal 15 sullicient and appropriate o provide a basis lor our opinion. The nsk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting trom error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

s Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
elfectivencess of the Group™s internal control,
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* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audil evidence oblained, whether a matenial uncerlainly exists related Lo events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 1f
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion, Cur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 1o cesse
to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in accordance with PFRSs, as modified by the application of financial
reporting reliefs issued and approved by the SEC, as described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

»  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activilies within the Group Lo express an opinion on the consolidated linancial stalements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governanee regarding, among other matiers, the planned seope
and tuning of the audit and significant audit findings, ineluding any significant deficicncies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

1P GORRES VELAYO & CO,

Jdt..

Kristopher 5. Catalan
Partner
CPA Cerificate Mo, 109712

Tax Identification No, 233-209-243

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001, August 25, 2021, valid vntil April 15, 2024

BIR Accreditation No. OB-001998-1 09-2023, October 26, 2023, valid until October 25, 2026

PTR No. 10079916, January 3, 2024, Makati City

March 6, 2024
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ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31

2023 2022

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and ecash equivalents (Notes 5 and 17) B731.046. 401 #1.171.695,501
Trade and other receivables (Motes 6 and 17) 1,353,007,7717 1,862,350 688
Real estate inventories (MNote T) 4,044,.951.678  4,074.804,1458
Other current assels (Mole 8) 1,331,614,906 1.518,454,403
Total Current Assels 7.461,310,822  B.627.307.740
MNoncurrent Assets
Receivables - net of current portion (MNote 6) 14,194,615 40,298 340
Invesiment properties (MNote 9) 20,721.910,730  20.984.232.401
Property and equipment {MNote 10} 666,891,365 714,308,080
Right-ol-use assets (Mote 27) 183,264,406 198,075,722
Deferred income tax assets - net (Note 24) 11,572,781 12,507,872
Other noncurrent assets (Note 11) 396,130,996 332438799
Total Noncurrent Assets 21,993.9%64,.893 22 2H1.861.214
TOTAL ASSETS P29.455.275.715 P30.000, 168,954
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other pavables (Mote 12) B2383,094,029 P11 421688475
Customers” deposits (Note 13) BB6.792.586 Q28,536,195
Payable to related parties (Mote | 7) TO00:00,000 —
Current portion of -

Loans payable (Notes 14 and 17) 505,120,202 2,058,933 23]

Payubles to landowners (Noles 15 and 17) 1.061,190,858 L

Other current liabilities (Motes 16 and 27) 514,504,052 333,618,301
Income tax pavable 8.474.081 9,631,566
Total Current Liabilities 6,059,175,808 6,752,407 558
Noncurrent Liabilities
Loans payable - net of current portion (Notes 14 and 17) 1,906,302.180 2,385.703,927
Payables to landowners (Motes 15 and 17) - 1.061,190, 554
Dieferred income tax liabilities - net (Note 24) 157,252,272 6o,012,736
Other noncurrent labilities (Motes 16 and 27) 1,008,238.043 1,053.143,623
Total Noncurrent Liahilities 3,071,792,495 4 569.05], 144
Total Liabilities 9,130,968.303  11.321.459.002
Equity (Note 25)
Capital stock 5,713,017,872 5.723.017.572
Additional paid-in capital 8,206,662,618 B,206,662,618
Accumulated remeasurements on retirement benefits (Note 233 123.491,727 132,775,758
Retained earnings 6,271,143,150 5,525,261,659
Treasury shares (7.955) (7.955)
Total Equity 20324307412 19 587700 952

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

£29,455,275,715 P30,909,168,954

See accompanving Notes to Consalidated Financial Statements.
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ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended December 31

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2023

2022

2021

REVENUE (MNotes 4 and 13)

Rental income (Motes 9 and 27)

PLATS.590.345 P2 132316654

B2 000,702,402

Years Ended December 31
2023 2022 2021
NET INCOME P745.881.491 P205,591.362 P530,245.775
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)
Cifier comprefiensive income (Toss) noi 1o be
veclassified 1o profit or foss in subseguent
jperios:
Remeasurement gains (losses) on delined
benefit obligations (Mote 23) {12, 378,708) QL0194 161 40,205 467
Deeferred meome tax elTect 3,094,677 (22,798,540) (5, 191.463)
(9,284.051) 68,395,621 32,014,002

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME £736,597 460 B363,986,983

P582,250.777

Rooms and other operated departments 192,848,511 178,152,351 220, 186,409
Real estale sales 136,928,852 225 118,767 137 666,528
2805376, 708 2,536,587,772 2,367,555,330
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of rental income (Notes 9, 10, 11 and 27) 1,003 359,708 B63.600 384 T32.791.004
Cost of rooms and other operated departments
(Motes 10 and 21) 133,232,472 106,512,052 03,235,206
Cost of real estate sales (Note 7) 61.453,082 226,434,536 55,053,102
Selling expenses (Note 19) 11,981,238 2,761,288 25,525,890
General and administrative expenses (Note 20) 750,460,645 598,189,464 740,881,329
2,050, 487,145 1.797.887.724 1,647 506,531
OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - net
Finance charges (Noles 18 and 27) (301.764,804) (323,382,431 (257.230.830)
Interest meome (Notes 5, 6 and 18) 18,387,863 10,238,648 13,173,791
Foreign exchange gains - net 677,822 6,803,609 4,149,653
Other income (charges) - net (Note 22 613,761,783 (32.636.123) LB2.B88.901
241,062,574 (358,906,207) (57.018.445)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 995,952,137 379,703,751 663,030,363
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 24)
Current 157,801,342 144,824 456 214,308 686
Deferred 92,269 304 (60.712,067) (101,614,048
250,070,646 84,112,389 112,784 588
NET INCOME P745 881,491 PIO5 501 362 $5500,245 775
BASIC/DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
(MNote 26) £0.1303 POOS16E B, 0061

See accompoarving Nates io (onsalidaled Financial Stalemenis.
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See accompaiying Noves to Consolidared Financiol Statements,
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Total
BI%.641,463,192
550,245,775
32,014,002
382.259777
19.223.722.96Y9
205,59 ,362
08,395,621
363,986,983
19.587,T049,952
T45 BB 401
(9284 031)
T36,597 460
B20,324.307 412

(B7.955)
(7,955)
(7.955)
(#7,955)
NSEUVRR AP

Treasury Shares
{Mote 25)

2

75

Farnings
(Mote 25)
S91.362

Retained

-T‘

745 BE1 491

550,245,775
550,24
)5,591,36
5.515.261,659
745 881,491

5,229.670,297

L

£4.679,424.522
29

P6.271,143,150

2

Benelits
(Mote 23)
AN4.002
204 K
G IR0, 137
BE39562]
68305621
(9,284 031}
(9.284.031%

)

3

3

B32.366.135

Accumulated
on Retirement
132,775,758

Remessurements
£123.4N,727

Additional
Paid-in Capital
(Note 25}
PB.206,662.618
H. 206,602,618
#.206,662.618

B8, 206,662,618

5

-

Capital Stock
(Mote

P5,723,017,872
5,723.017.872
5723017872

$5,723,017.872

-

Other comprehensive income

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

Sew accompamang Notes to Consolidared Fmancial Siatements,

BALANCES A5 AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Met imcome Tor the vear
BALANCES AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2021

Net income for the year
BALANCES AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2022

Met income for the vear

BALANCES AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2023

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income (loss)

Total comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Other comprehensive loss

ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31

2023 2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax PO95.952,137T  PBIT79.703,751 P663,030,363
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
(Notes 9, 10, 11 and 27) 486,015,550 473,088,617 413,849,943
Interest expense and other finance charges -
net of capitalized interest (Note 18) 391.749172 323 382,431 257,230,830
Day 1 gain on secunty deposil (Nole 22) (12,610,152) (35.666.684) (18.199.314)
Retirement benelits cost {Notes 21 and 23) 15,967,942 10,927 264 37,606,300
Interest income (Note 18) (18,387 863) (10,238,648) (13.173,791)
Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains)
- net (673.210) (6,803 609) {4.191.693)
Crain on retirement and disposal of property
and cquipment (Notes 10 and 22) = ( 1.600,0007 (2,938.250)
Ciain on contract modification
(Notes 14, 17 and 27) o = (9.8962,953)
Operating income before working capital changes 1858013576  1,133.693,122  1,323,251.,444
Deerease (inerease) in:
Trade and other receivables 535,356,636 77.353.392 321,742,234
Real estale inventories 29.852.470 83.615.556 (18.394.879)
Othear assets 129.711.471 (63 616,140 195, 355 956
Increase (decrease) in:
Trade and other payables (1,01 0,240,599) (130,750,500) | 8.300.417
Customers’ deposits (41,743.604) 531.710,634 (42.616.425)
Deposits and other liabilities __ 86,393.417 53151454 47,291,579
Cash generated from operations 1,587.343,362 [, 205,157,518 1,844.930,326
Income taxes paid. including final tax and
creditable withholding taxes (167.374.317) (143.775.013) (157.041,515)
Interest received 18.387.863 14.230.042 16,217.501
Net cash from operating activities 1. 438356908 1075612547 1,704,106,312
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Additions to:
Investment properties (Note 9) (125,716,137) (31.282.583) (573,246.234)
Properiy and equipment (Note 10) (27.647,079) (12,433.947) (25.401,202)
Software (Note 11) (6.251.315) (4,340.253) (3.323,253)
Proceeds from disposal of property and cquipment
(Mote 101 = 1,600 000 4, Bl 6u7
Net cazh used in investing activities (159.614,531) (66.456,783)  (597.129.992)

(Forward)



-1- ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31

2023 2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING I. Corporate Information and Authorization for Issuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements
ACTIVITIES . i )
Payments of- C nrjmratu:_lniurmal]n.?n ‘

* Louns payable (Notes 14 and 31) (P2,035,105,897) (£1,705.889,780) (21,645,930,000) Bon Froperties Ealippin, 1o, [ St oor fhe. Tl Company ) i modiaoeted s 1 it
Istcons (R 1415 19 mad 315 E34‘=+"§Il'?,d‘~'«5} Ca50 GRo 15as { 3?1’0‘} 6.807) with the Philippine Sccurities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on April 2, 1971 under the name
Loase ligbilitics [?:Zu’;e‘s 27 and 31 ) {35"4 44:,2:!6} (67.390342) 1&16216,";5"1} “Balabac Oil Exploration & Drilling Co., Ine.” to engage in oil exploration and mineral development
Disht fssne costs {’Nmes-l 4and 31) ’ N AR ( 12'?50';]']&} projects in the Philippines, On May 12, 1988, the Philippine SEC approved the Parent Company’s

Proiseds Boin erailmeit GElokns. T registration and licensing as a listed company.
Motes 14 and 31 700,000,000 = L, 700,000 000 . i § ; . a
Net t.a:l:;_-. P : E-m&:m-ng PRy (1.719,467,628) (2.023.360.235) (319.333.362) On August 19, 1994, the Parent Company’s Articles ol Incorporation (the *Articles™) was amended to:

{a) change the Parent Company’s primary purpose from oil exploration and mineral development to
NET EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE that ol engaging in the business of a holding company; and (b} include real estate development and oil

CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH exploration as among its secondary purposes.
EQUIVALENTS 673,211 6,803,609 4,191,693

On February 21, 2007, the Parent Company's Board of Diréctors (BOD) adopted the following
amendments: (a) change the corporate name to Eton Properties Philippines, Ine.; (b) change the primary

NEL INCREASK. (DECREANT) IV CASH purpose to hold, develop, manage, administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent or

v f 52 L07.400,862 TT1L834.65 ; : ; ; : ko ; e
AR EARRE PRI SRS ($90,052,090). (1.007,909.56%) L3806 otherwise deal in and dispose of, for itself or for others, residential, including, but not limited to, all
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS kinds of housing projects, commercial, industrial, urban or other kinds of real properly, improved or
AT EEGI’*’“]NG OF 't'EJ’LR- 1.171.698.501 2179108363 1.407.273.712 unimproved; to acquire, purchase, hold, manage, develop and sell subdivision lots; to erect, construct,
= : Bt Syt it aller. manage, operate. lease buildings and lenements; and o engaze or acl as real estate broker:
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS {¢) increase the number of directors from 11 to 15; and, (d) change of financial year-end from April 30
AT END OF YEAR (Note 5) P731,646,461  P1,171,698,501 P2,179,108,363 e Decombsr 1.
- e T - - The above amendments were adopted by the Parent Company’s shareholders on April 19, 2007 and
Sew geconpanying Motes fo Consolidated Finaneial Statesmenss, Elppru"r'bd I:*_'ﬁ‘r the Phﬂippirﬂ: SEC on June 8, 2007.

O October 6, 2009, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the acquisition of an approximately
| 2-hectare property, with an appraised value of B3,953.2 million, owned by Paramount Landequities,
Inc, (Paramount), where the Eton Centris projects are sitwated in exchange for the issuance of
[.600 million shares to Paramount at P2.50 per share. On October 22, 2009, the Marent Company and
Paramount executed a Deed of Conveyance pertaining to the asset-for-share swap (see Note 215).
As approved by the Philippine SEC in July 2011, the property was recognized by the Parent Company
at the value of £4,000.0 million {see Nole 25).

Prior to restructuring in 2012, Paramount and Saturn [oldings, Ine (“Saturn™) had ownership interest
of 35.07% and 42.39%, respectively. in Eton,

On September 17, 2012, LT Group. Inc. (LTG)'s BOD approved the assumption by LTG of certain
liabilities of Paramount from Step Dragon Co. Lid. and Billinge Investments Ltd., British Virgin Island
(BVI)-based companies, and Saturn from Penick Group Ltd., also a BVI-based company, amounting
to #1,350.8 million and P321.3 million, respectively. LTG is a publicly listed company incorporated
and domiciled in the Philippines.

On September 25 and September 26, 2012, LTG subseribed 1o 1,350,819.487 common shares of
Pararount and 450,000,000 common shares of Saturn, respectively, with a par value of B1.O0 per share,
which were issued to LTG from the increase in Paramount’s and Saturn’s authorized capital stock. LTG
paid for the subscription in full by way of conversion inte equity of LTG s advances to Paramount and
Saturn amounting to P1,350.8 million and P490.0 million, respectively, On the same dates, Paramount
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and Saturn filed their application for inerease in authorized capital with the Philippine SEC in order 1o
accommodate LTG’s investment.

Upon the Philippine SEC"s approval on Oclober 10, 2012, Paramount and Saturn became subsidiaries
of LTG with 98.18% and 98.99% ownership interests, respectively. thus, giving LTG a 98.00%
effective ownership in Eton,

On October 30, 2012, LTG entered into deeds of sale of shares with the controlling shareholders of
Paramount and Saturn for the remaining issued and outstanding shares of the said companies. Thus,
Paramount and Saturm became wholly owned subsidiaries of LTG.

On October 22, 2012, the Parent Company’s BOD approved to voluntarily delist the Parent Company
from the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE]) in light of the Parent Company’s inability to comply with
the minimum public ownership requirement of PSE within the allowed grace period. On
December 8, 2012, Paramount made a tender offer to buy back shares of the Parent Company traded in
the PSE resulting in the increase in its ownership interest from 55.07% to 56.86%, thus, increasing
LTG s effective ownership interest in Eton to 99.30%. The delisting of the Parent Company became
effective on January 2, 2013,

On November 14, 2014, Paramount and Saturn authorized the conversion of its advances to the Parent
Company amounting to P3,150.0 million and P2350.0 million, respectively, into  eguity
by way ol subscription Lo 2,067.669,172 shares of slock al an issuc price of £2.66 per share. On
January 14, 2015, the Parent Company [led the application for conversion with the SEC which was
subsequently approved on January 23, 20135,

On March 2. 2015, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the increase of its authorized capital stock
from B5.0 billion divided into 5.0 billion common shares with a par value of B1.00 per share to
PE.0O billion divided into 8.0 billion common shares with a par value of PLO0 per share,
On September 28, 2015, Eton filed an application with the Philippine SEC to increase its authorized
capital stock which was subsequently approved by the Philippine SEC on September 30, 2015, Out of
the increase of 3.0 billion commeon shares, 419 million commeon shares and 331 million commeon shares
have been subscribed by Paramount and Saturn, respectively, at a subscription price of P2.72 per share.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2022, Eton is 56.88% owned by Paramount. Eton’s ultimate parent
company is Tangeni Holdings Corporation, a company incorporated and domiciled in the Philippines.

The Parent Company’s registered business address is 8F Allied Bank Center, 6754 Ayala Avenue,
Makati City, Metro Manila, Philippines.

Subsidiaries
Below are the Parent Company's ownership inlerests in ils subsidiaries:

Percentage
Subsidiaries of Ownership
Belton Communities. Inc. {BCT) 1 00%%
Eton City, Inc. {ECI) 100%
Eton Hotels & Leisure, Inc. (EHLI) [formerly FirstHomes, Inc. | LG %0
Eton Properties Management Corporation (EPMC) 100%

BCl was mecorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on November 35, 2007,
On February 18, 2008, the BOD of BC] approved the mcrease of its capital stock from 20,000 shares
to 100,000,000 shares at #1.00 par value per share and the subscription of the Parent Company for
24,995 (00 shares, which, in addition to 5,000 commaon shares originally subseribed, would equal 1o
25% of the authorized capital stock.

On October 15, 2014, the BOD of BCI approved the increase of its authorized capital stock from
P20.000 divided into 20,000 common shares with a par value of P1.00 per share to PE0O0,000,000
divided into 800,000,000 conpunon shares with a par value of B1.00 per share. On December 23, 20014,
BCI Miled an application with the Philippine SEC (o merease ils authorized capital stock which was
subsequently approved by the Philippine SEC on January 7, 2015, Out of the increase in authorized
capital stock, 199995 000 common shares have been subseribed by the Parent Company with deposit
for future stock subscription as payment [or the subseribed common shares.

ECI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on Oclober &, 2008, On October 15, 2014,
the BOD of ECT approved the increase of its authorized capital stock from B100,000,000 divided into
100,000,000 common shares with a par value of £1.00 per share to #1.,000,000,000 divided into
1,000, 000,000 common shares with a par value of #1.00 per share. On December 23, 2014, ECI filed
an application with the Philippine SEC to increase its authorized capital stock which was subsequently
approved by the Philippine SEC on January 6, 2015, Out of the increase in authorized capital stock,
225,000,000 commaon shares have been subscribed by the Parent Company with deposit for future stock
subseription as payment for the subscribed common shares.

On October 15, 2010, EHLI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC under the name
of “FirstHomes, Inc.” as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent Company with a total subseribed
capital stock of P1.3 million. On November 7, 2019, the BOD of EHLI adopted the following
amendments: (a) change the corporate name to Eton Hotels & Leisure. lne.: (b) change the primary
purpose to include to manage and operale hotels, resorts, apartelles, serviced apartments and other
hospitality facilities, buildings, houses, apartments and other structures and immovable and personal
property. The amendments were adopted by EHLI s stockholders on May 18, 2020 and approved by
the Philippine SEC on October 29, 2021,

EPMC was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on September 29, 2011 to manage,
operate, lease, in whole or in part, real estate of all kinds, including buildings, howse, apartments and
olher structures.

On June 14, 2017, the BOD of EPMC approved the increase in its authorized capital stock from
B1.,000,000 divided into 1,000,000 common shares with a par value of B1.00 per share to 220,000,000
divided into 20,000,000 common shares with a par value of #1.00 per share. The increase in authorized
capital stock was approved by the Philippine SEC on September 19, 2017, Out of the increase in
authorized capital stock, 4,750,000 common shares have been subseribed by the Parent Company.

On December 4, 2019, the Board of Directors of EPPI approved the additional investment/purchase of
5.0 million shares of EPMUC, with par value of P1.00 per share, amounting to P15.0 million,

All subsidiaries, except Tor EPMUC, are engaged in real estate development. All subsidiaries” registered
business address is 8/F Allied Bank Center, 6754 Ayala Avenue, Makati City, Metro Manila.

Authorization for lssuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of Eton Properties Philippines. Ine. and its subsidiaries
{the “Group™} as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for each of the three years in the period endad
December 31, 2023 were authorized for issuance by the BOD on March 6, 2024,
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Summary of Material Accounting and Financial Reporting Policies

Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

The consolidated fnancial statements have been prepared under the hislorical cosl basis and are
presented i Philippine peso (Peso), which 15 the Parenl Company’s functional and presentation
currency. All values are rounded to the nearest Peso, except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of Compliance

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance
with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs), as modified by the application of the following
financial reporting reliefs issued and approved by the SEC in response to the COVID-19 pandemic;

Deferral of the provisions of Philippine Interpretations Commitiee (PIC) O&A 2008-12, PFRS [3
Implementation Issues Affecting the Real Estate Industry

g, Assessing if the transaction price includes a significant financing component (as amended by PIC
QdcA 2020-04); and

b. Treatment of land in the determination of the percentage-ol-completion (POC).

liern b was already implemented by the Group prior to the issuance of the PIC Q&A 2018-12 and the
Group continued its accounting treatment despite the deferral mentioned.

Deeferral of the adoption of PIC Oded 200 8-14: Accouniing for Cancellation of Real Estate Sales (as
amended hy PIC Oded 2020-03)

The details and the impact of the adoption of the above financial reporting reliefs are discussed in the
Futnre Changes in Accounting Policy seetion,

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Paremt Company and its
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2023,

Changes in Accounting Palicies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial vear. except for the
adoption of new standards effective in 2023, The Group has not early adopted any standard,
interpretation or amendment that has been issued hut is not yet effective.

Unless otherwise indicated, adoption of these new standards did not have an impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

o Amendments o PAS 1. Presentation of Finaneial Statements, and PFES Practice Statement 2,
Discloyure of Accowniing Policies

The amendments provide guidance and examples 1o help entities apply matenality judzements o
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy
disclosures that are more useful by:

o Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a
requirement to disclose their *material” accounting policies, and
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o Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures

The amendments had an impact on the Group’s disclosures of accounting policies, but not on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the consolidated financial statements.

o  Amendments o PAS B deconnting Poficies, Changes in Accounting Esitmates, and Ferors,
Definition of Accounting Eslimates

The amendments miroduce a new definition of accounting estimates and clanfy the distinclion
between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of
errors. Also, the amendments clarify that the effects on an accounting estimate ol a change in an
input or a change in a measurement technique are changes in accounting estimates if they do not
result from the correction of prior period errors.

o Amendments to PAS 12, Deferred Tax reloicd to Asveis and Liahififes arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exceplion under PAS 12, so thal il no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,

The amendments also clarify that where payments that settle a liability are deductible for tax
purposes, it is a matrer of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether such
deductions are attributable for tax purposes to the liability recognized in the financial statements
tand interest expense) or to the related assel component (and interest expense).

o Amendments to PAS 12, Insernarional Tox Reform - Piflar Two Model! Rules

The amendments introduce a mandatory exception in PAS 12 from recognizing and disclosing
deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes,

The amendments also eladfy that PAS 12 applies to income taxes arising from tax law enacted or
substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two Model Rules published by the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), including tax law that implements qualified
domestic minimum top-up taxes. Such tax legislation, and the income taxes ansing from it, are
referred to as “Pillar Two legislation” and “Pillar Two income taxes”, respectively,

The temporary exception from recognition and disclosure of information about deferred faxes and
the requirement to disclose the application of the exception, apply immediately and retrospectively
upon adoption of the amendments in June 2023, Meanwhile, the disclosure of the currenl tax
expense related to Pillar Two income taxes and the disclosures in relation to periods before the
legislation is effective are reguired for anoual reporting periods beginning on or alter
January 1, 2023,

Future Changes in Accounting Policy

Pronouncements issued bul not yet effective are listed below, Unless otherwise indicated, the Group
does not expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements will have a significant impact on
its consolidated financial statements, The Group intends to adopt the following proncuncements when
they become effective,

Effeciive beginning on or after Jannary 4, 2024
o Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
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s  Amendments to PFRS 16, Leases, Lease Liakifity in a Sale and Leaseback

»  Amendments to PAS 7 and PFRS 7, Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements

e Adoption of the Deferred of Certain Provisions of PIC Q&A 2018-12, PERS 15 Implemeniaiion
Issnes Affecting the Real Estate Industry (os aomended by PIC O& As 2020.04

Effective beginining on or after Jannary £, 2025
o  PFRS 17, Mnsurance Contracts
o  Amendments to PAS 21, Lack of evehangeabilily

Deferved effectivity
« Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidoied Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Conrribution
af Assers berween an Trvestor and ire Assoctase or Joine Veniure

Financial assets

Initiad vecognition and measurement

Financial assels are classified, at inital recognition, as subsequently measured al amortized cost, Tair
value through other comprehensive income (OC1), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification ol financial asscls al inital recognition depends on the linancial assel’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. The Group initially
measures a financial asset at its Tair value plus, in the case ol a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs.  Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price determined

under PFRS 15.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group’s financial assets perfain to financial assets at amortized
cost (debt instrument).

Subseguent measurement
The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost ifboth of the following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

#  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
pavments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and
are suhject to impainment. Gains and losses are recognized in consolidated statement of income when
the assel is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Group’s linancial assets at amortized cost includes eash in banks and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables and refundable deposits.

fmpatrment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss, ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contracl and all the cash flows that the Group expects lo receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
ltows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral o the contractual
lerms.

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a signilicant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from

default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those eredit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance
is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade and other receivables and refundable deposits, the Giroup applies a simplified approach in
caleulating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a
loss allowanee based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment,

For contracts receivables (CR) presented under “Trade and other receivables”, the Group used the
vintage analysis accounts for expected credit losses by calculating the cumulative loss rates of a given
CR pool. It derives the probability of default [rom the historical data of a homogenous portfolio that
share the same origination period. The information on the number of defaults during fixed time intervals
of the accounts is ulilized to create the probability model. It allows the evaluation of the loan activity
[rom its origination period until the end of the contract period.

In addition to life of loan loss data, primary drivers like macroeconomic indicators of qualitative factors
such as forward-looking data on interest rate, unemployment rate and inflation rates were added to the
expected loss caleulation to reach a forecast supported by both quantitative and qualitative data points.

The probahility of default is applied to the estimate of the loss arising on default which is based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows duc and those that the Group would expect to reecive,
including from the repossession of the subject real estate property, net of cash outflows. For purposes
of calculating loss given default, accounts are scgmented based on facility/collateral type and
completion. ln calculating the recovery rates, the Group considered collections ol cash and/or cash [rom
resale of real estate properties after foreclosure, net of direct costs of obtaining and selling the real
estale properties after the default event such as commission, association dues, refurbishment, payment
required under Maceda Law, and cost to complete (for incomplete units).

As these are future cash flows, these are discounted back to the time of default using the appropriate
EIR, usually being the original EIR ar an approximation thereof,

For cash and cash equivalents, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. The prohability of
default and loss given defaults are publicly available and are considered to be low credit risk
wvestments, It is the Group’s policy to measure ECLs on such instruments on a 12-month basis.
However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowanee will
be based on the lifetime ECL. The Group uses the ratings from the external credit rating agencies to
determine whether the debt instrument has significantly increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs.

Every reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debl instrument is considered to have low credit
risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. In
making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the internal credit rating ol the debt instrument. In
addition, the Group considers that there has been a signilicant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due,
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Fingneiol liahilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and borrowings, payvables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities pertain to loans and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognized in consolidated statement of
income when the labilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by faking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance charges in the
consolidated statement of income,

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Day 1 Difference

Where the transaction price in a non-active market is ditferent from the fair value from other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technigue whose vanables
include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference between the transaction
price and fair value (a Day | difference) in profit or loss unless it qualifies for the recognition as some
other type of assel. In cases where use is made of data which 15 not observable, the difference between
the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become
observable or when the instrument is derccognized. For cach transaction. the Group determines the
appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 17 difference amount.

Real Estate Inventories

Real estale inventories consist of subdivision house and/or let, residential houses and lots and
condominium units for sale and development. These are properties acquired or being constructed for
sale in the ordinary course of business rather than to be held for rental or capital appreciation. These
are held as inventory and are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV).

Cost includes;

s Apquisition cost of subdivision land;

e Amounts paid to contraclors for construction and development of subdivision and/or lot, residential
houses and lots and condominium units;

e  Planning and design costs, cost of site preparation, professional fees For legal services, property
transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs; and

*  Borrowing costs capitalized prior to start of pre-selling activities for the real estate project.

MRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at the
reporting date, less costs to complete and the estimated costs of sale. The carrying amount of inventories
is reduced through the use of allowance account and the amount of loss is charged to consolidated
statement of income.
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The cost of inventory recognized in profit or loss on disposal is determined with reference to the specific
costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific costs. The total costs are
allocated pro-rata hased on the relative size of the property sold.

Repossessed real estate inventories are recorded at fair value less cost to repossess,
Investment Propertics

Investment properties consist of properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both, and are not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties, except for land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment in value. Land 15 cared atl acquisition cost less any impairment in value. The cost of an
investment property. except for land, includes its construction costs and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. including borrowing
costs.  Additions. betterments and major replacements are capitalized while minor repairs and
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment in value. This mecludes cost of
construction and other direct costs. Construction in progress is nol depreciated until such time that the
relevant asset 1s completed or put into operational use. Construction in progress are carried at cost and
transferred to the related investment property account when the construction and related activities to
prepare the property for its intended use are complete, and the property is ready for occupation.

Depreciation of investment properties commences once these are available for use and is computed on
a strajght-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the investment properties as follows:

Category YWears
Buildings 20 1 40
Condominium units 40
Land improvements 3

Depreciation of investment properties ceases at the earlier of the date that the item is classified as held
for sale {or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in accordance with
PFRS 5. Noncurrent Assels Hefd for Safe and Discontinued Operations, and the date the asset is
derecognized.

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed annually based on expected asset utilization to
ensure that the period of depreciation is consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from
the investment propertics.

Transfers to investment property are made when there is a change in use, as evidenced by ending of
owner-occupation or commencement of an operating lease to another party. Transfers are made from
investment property when and only when there is a change in use, as evidenced by commencement of
owner-oceupation or commencement of development with a view lo sell.

Transfers between investment property, owner-cecupied property and inventories do not change the

carrving amount of the property transferred and they do not change the cost of that property for
measurement or disclosure purposes.
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Investment property is derceognized when cither it has been disposed of, or when the investment
property 1s permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its
disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized in
the consolidated statement of income in the year ol retirement or disposal,

The estimated fair value of the investment properties was arrived al using the Market Approach. In this
approach, the value of the land and building were based on sales and listings of comparable property
registered within the vicinity. The approach reguires the adjustments of comparable property by
reducing reasonable comparative sales and listings to a commeon denominator. For the valuation of the
buildings for lease, the Cost Approach method of valuation is used. This method is based on the
econcmic principle that a buyer will pay no more for an asset than the cost to obtain an asset of equal
utility, whether by purchase or by construction. In estimating the cost of replacement of the new
building and other land improvements, the Modified Quantity Survey Method is adopted.

The disclosure of the fair value of investment properties is determined by a Philippine SEC-accredited
and independent valuer based on Market Approach using sales and listings of comparable properties
having same polential use with the investment propertics owned by the Company.

Eevenue and Cost Becosnition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements
against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has
concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements.

Real estate sales

The Group derives ils real estate sales from sale of subdivision house and/or lots, residential house and
lots and condominium units. Revenue from the sale of these real estate projects under pre-completion
stage are recognized over lime during the construction period (or percentage of completion) since based
on the terms and conditions of its contract with the buyers, the Group’s performance does not create an
assel with an alternative use and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Rental income

Rental income under non-cancellable leases of investment properties is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term or based on the terms of the lease
contract or certain percentage of the gross revenue of the tenants, as applicable.

Cost of rental income

Cost of rental income is recognized in relation to the leasing activities of the Group. This includes
depreciation of the investment properties being leased out, rental expense on the land where the
property for lease is located, real property taxes and other directly attributable costs.

Other income and other expenses

Other income and other expenses pertain to the rental dues, service fees, penalty income and gain or
loss, respectively, arising from forfeiture or cancellation of prior years™ real estate sales, day one loss
and miscellaneous income and expense,

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing cosls directly atiributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the
“Investment properties™ account in the consolidated statement of financial position. Capitalization of
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures
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and borrowing costs are being incurred. Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary Lo prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

Capitalized borrowing cost is based on applicable weighted average borrowing rate for those coming
from general borrowings and the actual borrowing costs eligible for capitalization for funds borrowed
specifically.

All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefits Cost
The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any). adjusted
for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling is the present
value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future
contributions to the plan,

The cost of providing benefits under the delined benefit plans is actuarially determined wsing the
projected unit credit method,

Retirement benefils costs comprise the following:

s Service cosl;
= Nef interest on the net defined benefit liability or assct; and
s Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset,

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on nonrouting
settlements are recognized as expense in consolidated statement of income. Past service cosls are
recognized when plan amendment or curtailment oceurs, These amounts are caleulated periodically by
mndependent qualified actuaries,

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the chanpe during the period in the net defined
benefit hability or asset thal arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the
discount rate based on government honds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net interest on
the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in the consolidated statement
of income.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the
elfect ol the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on delined benefit lability) are recognized immediately
in other comprehensive income in the perod inwhich they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassi Ged
to the consolidated statement of income in subsequent periods.

The Group's right to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit
obligation is recognized as a separate asset at fair value when and onby when reimbursements is virtually
certain.

Income Taxes

Curvent income fux

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the financial reporting date.



Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is determined at the financial reporting date using the balance sheet liability
method on all temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, with certain
exceptions. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary dilferences,
carrylorward benefits of unused tax credits from excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over
the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) [excess MCIT] and unused net operating loss carryover
(NOLCO). o the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, excess MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized before their
expiration.

The carrying amount ol delerred income tax assets is reviewed at cach Oinancial reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable income will be available
tov allow all or part of the deferred tax assets o be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets
are reassessed at each financial reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable income will allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Dieferred income tax assets and habilities are measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the
period when the asset s realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the financial reporting date. Movements in the deferred tax assets
and liabilities arising from changes in tax rates are charged or credited to the income for the period.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are ofTsel. if a legally enforeeable right exists to set off current
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities, and the deferred income taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in
the consolidated statement of income. Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying
transaction either in other comprehensive income or direetly in equity,

Basic/Diluted Eamings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the yvear attributable to equity holders
of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year,
after giving retroactive effect to any stock dividends or stock splits, if any, declared during the year,

Diluted earnings per share is computed in the same manner, with the net income for the vear atiributable
to equity holders of the Parent Company and the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the vear, adjusted for the effect of all dilutive potential common shares.

Leases

The Group as Lessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of the ownership of the
asset are classified as operating leases. Fixed lease payments for non-cancellable lease are recognized
in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any difference
between the caleulated rental income and amount actually received or to be recelved is recognized as
deferred rent in the consolidated statement of financial position. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over
the lease term on the same basis as the rental income. Variable rent is recognized as income based on
the terms of the lease contract.
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When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired. any payment required to be
made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognized under “Other income™ account in the consolidated
statement of income.

Seement Information

The Ciroup’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the
Giroup: residential developments, leasing activities and serviced apartments. This s the basis on which
the Group reports its primary segment information. Information with respect to these subsidiaries are
disclosed in Note 4. The Company, including its subsidiaries, operate and derive all its revenue [rom
domestic operation.

Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the Group lo exercise judgments,
make accounting estimates and use assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. Future events may
oeeur which will cause the assumplions used in arriving at the accounting estimates lo change. The
cifects of any change in accounting estimates are reflected in the consolidated hnancial statements as
they become reasonably determinable.

Accounting estimates and judgments arc continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Judegments

ln the process of applying the Group™s accounting policics, management has made the Tollowing
Judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant cffcct on amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statements. Futire events may oceur which will cause the
assumptions used in arriving at the accounting estimates to change. The effect of any change in
accounting estimates 15 reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably
determinable,

HNevenue recogniiion

Revenue recognition under PFRS 15 involves the application of signilicant judgment and estimation in
the: (a) identification of the contract for sale of real estate property that would meet the requirements
of PFRS 15; (b) assessment of the probability that the entity will collect the consideration from the
buyer: (¢) determination of the transaction price: (d) application of the output/input method as the
measure ol progress in determining real estate revenue; (¢) determination of the actual costs incurred
as cost of sales; and (£) recognition of cost to obtain a contract.

a)  Existence of a contract

The Group’s primary document for a contract with a customer is a signed contract to sell. In
addition, part of the assessment process of the Group before revenue recognition is to assess the
probability that the Group will eollect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for
the real estate property that will be transferred to the customer. In evaluating whether collectability
of an amount of consideration is probable, an entity considers the significance of the customer’s
initial payments in relation to the total contract price. Collectability is also assessed by considering
factors such as past history customer, age and pricing of the property. Management regularly
evaluates the historical cancellations and back-outs if it would still support its current threshold of
customers’ equity before commencing revenue recognition.
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bl Revenue recognition method and measure of progress

The Group concluded that revenue for real estate sales is to be recognized over time because
{a) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and: {b) the Group has
an enforceable right for performance completed to date. The promised property is specifically
identified in the contract and the contractual restriction on the Group’s ability to direct the promised
property for another use is substantive. This is because the property promised to the customer is
not interchangeable with other properties without breaching the contract and without incurring
signilicant costs that otherwise would not have been incurred in relation to thal contract. In addition,
under the current legal framework, the customer is contractually obliged to make payments to the
developer up to the performance completed to date,

The Group has determined that the output method used in measuring the progress of the
performance obligation faithfully depicts the Group’s performance in transferring control of real
estate development to the customer,

o) Identifving performance obligation

The Group has various contracts to sell covering residential lots and condominium units. The Group
concluded that there is one performance obligation in each of these coniracts because:
(1) for residential lois, the developer integrates the plots it sells with the associated infrastructure to
be able to transfer the serviced land promised in the contract; (ii) for the contract covering house
or condominium units, the developer has the ohligation to deliver the house or condominium unit
duly constructed on a specific lot and fully integrated into the serviced land in accordance with the
approved plan. Included also in this performance obligation is the Group’s service to transfer the
title of the real estate unit to the customer.

Provision for expected credit losses of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and
refundable deposiis

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade and other receivables, except for contract
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (ie, by peography, product type. customer type and rating, property
collaterals and coverage by letters of credit and other forms ol eredit insurance). The provision matrix
is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates.

The Group uses vintage analysis approach to calculate ECLs for contract receivables. The vintage
analysis accounts for expected credit losses by caleulating the cumulative loss rates of a given loan
pool. It derives the probability of default from the historical data of a homogenous portfolio that share
the same origination period, The information on the number of defaults during fixed time intervals of
the accounts is utilized to create the PD model. It allows the evalvation of the loan activity from its
origination period until the end of the contract period. The Group uses low credit risks simplification
lor cash and cash equivalents and relundable deposits.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed delault rates. forecast economic
conditions (i.e., inflation rate) and ECLs are significant estimates. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of the customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade and other receivables and
refundable deposits is disclosed in Note 28,

N O At

Operating lease commitmenis - the Growp as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases of its investment properties. The Group has
determined thal it retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are
leased oul on operaling leases.

Prerermination of lease term of conrracts with venewal options - the Urroup ay a lessee

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group
applics judgment 1n evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exervise the option to
renew or lerminate the lease. It considers all relevant factors that create an cconomic incentive for it to
exercise cither the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the
lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its conire] and alfects
its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate {e.g.. construction of
significant leaschold),

Refer to Note 27 for information on potential future rental payvments relating to periods following the
exercise date of extension and lermination options that are not included in the lease term.

Classification of properties
The Group detenmines whether a property is classified as investment property or real estate inventory
as follows:

o Investment propertv comprises land, condominimm units and buildings (principally offices,
cormmercial and retail property ) which are not occupied substantially for use by, or in the operations
ol the Group, nor lor sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to cam rental
income and for capital appreciation,

#  Real estate myventory comprises property that is held for sale m the ordinary course of business.
Prineipally, this is a residential property that the Group develops and mtends to sell before or on
completion of construction.

Pistinction between investment properties and owner-occupivd propertics

The Group delermines whether a property qualifies as investment property. In making its judgment,
the Group considers whether the property gencrates cash flow largely independent of the other assets
held by an entity. Owner-nccupied properties generate cash flows that are attributable not only to
property hut also to the other assets usad in the production or supply process.

Certain properties comprise a portion that 15 held to cam rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions cannot be sold separately as of the financial reporting date, the property is
accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgment is applied in determining
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.
The Group considers each property separately in making its judgment.

Determination of fair value of financial and noniinancial instruments

Where the fair values of financial and nonfinancial instruments recorded or disclosed in the
consolidated linancial statements cannotl be derived [rom active markets, they are determined using
internal valuation technigues using generally accepled markel valuation models. The inputs to these
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimates are
used in establishing fair values (see Notes 9 and 28).
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Provisions and contingencies

The Group is currently involved in legal proceedings. Management and its legal counsels believe that
the Group has substantial legal and factual bases for its position and is of the opinion that losses arising
from these legal actions, if any. will not have a material adverse impact on the Group’s financial
position and results of operations. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be
materially affected by changes in estimates or in the effectiveness of strategies relating to these
proceedings,

Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
financial reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrving
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial vear are as follows:

Revenue and cost recognition

The Group derives its real estate revenue from sale of lots, bouse and lot and condominium units.
Revenue from the sale ol these real estate projects under pre-completion stage are recognized over lime
during the construction period (or percentage of completion) since based on the terms and conditions
of its contract with the buyers, the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. In measuring
the progress of its performance obligation over time, the Group uses the output method.

Real estate sales and cost of real estate sales amounted to P136.93 million and P61.45 million in 2023,
P225.15 million and P226.4 million in 2022, P137.7 million and P55.1 million in 2021, respectively.

Fattmation of allowance for expected credit losses of debt insiruments at amortized cost

The level of allowance for loans and receivables is evaluated by management based on past collection
history and other factors which include, but are not limited to the length of the Group's relationship
with the customer, the customer’s payment behavior, known market factors that affect the collectability
of the accounts, The Group recognized allowance for impairment on its contracts receivables: lease
receivables and refundable deposits amounting nil, P66.47 million, P6.8 million as of
December 31, 2023 and nil, P246.1 million, £6.1 million as of December 31, 2022 (see Notes 6
and 28).

The Group recognized a wrile ofT of lease receivables amounting to B300 million and nil as of 2023
and 2022, respectively.

Measurement of net realizable value of real estate inventories

The Group adjusts the cost of its real estate inventories to net realizable value (WNRV) based on its
assessment of the recoverability of cost of the inventories. NRV for completed real estate inventories
is assessed with reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date and is
determined by the Group in the light of recent market transactions. NRV in respect of real estate
inventories under construction is assessed with reference to markel prices at the reporting date for
similar compleled properly, less estimated costs Lo complete construction and less estimated costs Lo
sell. The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if different judgments
were made or different estimates were utilized.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, real estate inveniories, which are carried at cost, amounted to
P4.,045.0. million and #4.074.8 million, respectively (see Note 7).

oy

Estimatton of useful lives of investment properiies excluding land and construction in progress,
property and equipment, right-of-use assets. and software

The Group estimates the useful lives of its depreciable investment properties, property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and sofiware based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available
for use, The estimated useful lives of the investment properties, property and equipment, right-of-use
assets and software are reviewed at least annually and are updated if expectations differ from previous
estimates due to physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence on the use of these
assets. It is possible that future results of operations could he materially affected by changes in these
estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above, A reduction in the estimated useful
lives of investment properties, property and equipment, right-of-use assets and software would increase
depreciation and amortization expense and decrease noncurrent assets,

There were no changes in the estimated useful lives of depreciable investment properties, property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and software in 2023 and 2022, The carrying values of the Group’s
investment propertics (excluding land and construction in progress), property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and software amounted to PLOE1 5.6 million, P666.9 million, #183.3 mullion and
B3.6 million as of December 31, 2023, respectively BLLOS6.7 million, B714.3 million, P1953.1 million
and £5.4 million as of December 31, 2022, respectively (see Notes 9. 10, 11 and 27).

Estimation of determining the foir valwe of repossessed in real estate invetory
The Group estimates the fair value of the repossessed real estate inventories based on the expected
selling price based upon subsequent sale of the repossessed real estate inventory less cost to repossess.
Real estate inventories, including repossessed inventories, amounted to $#4,045.0 million and
24,0749 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 7).

Assessment af impairment of noncirrent nonfinancial assets and estimation of recoverable amount
The Group evaluates its nonfinancial assets, which include investment properties, property and
equipment, right-of-use asscts, and software, lor any impairment in value. This mcludes considering
certain indications of impairment such as significant changes in asset usage, significanl decline in
assels’ markel value, obsolescence or physical damage of an asset, significant underperformance
relative to expected historical or projected future operating and significant negative indusiry or
economic trends.

As described in the accounting policy, the Group estimates the recoverable amount as the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. Indetermining the present value of estimated future
cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use of the assets, the Group is required to make
estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the consolidated financial statements.

The Group did not identify any indications of impairment. thus, it believes that the carrying amounts
of its investment properties, property and equipment, right-of-use assets, and software amounting to
20,7219 million, P666.9 million, PI1833 million and P3.6 million as of December 31, 2023,
respectively and B20,984.2 million, B714.3 million, P198.1 million and #54 million as of
December 31, 2022, respectively, approximate their recoverable amounts (see Notes 9, 100 11 and 27).

Estimation af retivement henefits costs and liahility

The determination of the Group's retirement benefits costs and liability is dependent on selection of
certain assumptions used by actuaries in caleulating such amounts. Those assumptions are deseribed in
Mote 23 and include among others, discount rate and salary increase rate, While the Group believes that
the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in actual experience or
significant changes in assumptions will materially atfect retirement benefits obligations,
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As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, retirement benefits hability amounted £85.1 million and
P58.6 million, respectively. Retirement benefits cost amounted to 16.0 million, #10.9 million, and
P37.6 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (see Note 23).

Recognition of deferved inconte tax assels

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at cach financial reporting date
and makes adjustments to it to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufTicient [uture taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. The Group
looks at i1s projected lnancial performance in assessing the sufficiency of Tuture taxable income.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group recognized deferred income tax assets amounfing to
B284.2 million and B320.3 million, respectively (see Mote 24).

Segment Information

Operating segments are components of the Group: (a) that engage in business activities from which the
Group may earn revenues and incur losses and expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to
transactions with other components of the Group); (b) whose operating results are regularly reviewed
by the Group's chiel operating decision maker (CODM) to make decisions aboul resources o be
allocated to the segment and assess ils performance; and (¢) for which discrete financial information is
available. The Group’s CODM is the Parent Company’s BOD. The Parent Company’s BOD regularly
reviews the operating results of the business umts to make decisions on resource allocation and assess
performance. Segment revenues and segment expenses are measured in accordance with PFRSs.

The presentation and classification of segment revenues and segment expenses are consistent with those
in the consolidated statements of income, Financing costs (including interest expense) and income
laxes are managed on a per company basis and are not allocated 1o operaling segments.

Further, the measurement of the scgment assets is the same as those described in the summary of
signilicant accounting and fnancial reporting policies.

The Group has only one geographical segment as all of its assets are located 1n the Philippines, The
Group operates and derives all of its revenue from domestic operations. Thus, geographical business
information s not reguired.

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that those economic benefits will flow to the
Croup and that the reverue can be reliably mensured. The Group does not have revenue from
transaction with a single external customer, which amount to 10% or more of the Group’s revenues.

Segment expenses are those direetly atiributable to the segment and the relevant portion of an ¢xpense
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the segment, including expenses such as direct costs and
expenses and general and administrative expenses.

The business segments where the Group operates [ollow:

» Residential developments - sale of residential lots and condominium units;

s Leasing activities - development of Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) buildings, and
commercial spaces and condominium units for lease; and

*  Serviced apartments - operations of rooms and other operated departments at “The Mini Suites™ in
Eton Tower Makati.

- ]9-

Considering the nature of the business segments, there were no intersegment revenues generated for all

Voars,
023
UnnHocated
Residential Lensing Serviced Corpomis
(5 I."'h:-l:lnll.'l'l[h Aciivitics .-‘I.parhnl.'an. Balanee Copsalidaied
Revenae from extemal customers F136928 852 $LA7T5599 345 P192 848,511 L | el
Tlircct costs 61,053,052 1.4K3 385, 70y 133,232,472 - 1,288,045, 262
Ciross profit (loss) TEATETTO 1.382.239,637 S9.R16.050 - 1.517,331.446
Selling, meneral and adimimistrative expenses 11,981,238 - - TR0 AG0 R Th2. 441 883
Ciperaling moomms 63,494,532 1.382,239.637 S9A41603% (TS0 AR 645 T54,KR9, 561
lntepest meome 2,737,693 - - L5.650,170 18,387,563
(Mber ineome (charges) - ool 127.616.0084 15922 966 BARE A 462,411,564 614,439,605
Finance charges - - - {301,764, 804) (300,764, 594)
Provaseon for income Lax {250,070, 646) (25007060
Seomcnt profit (Ioss) FIO3RA8.309 B136%.934,293 PoR I0S025  (BMA2MA46)  PTASEHLAM
Ciher information
Segment psssls #4892, 423,258 #1440, 779,450 PorIE A3, 185 P1247L004.883 #2944, 704,776
Seament hahilities F1041. 306,833 PY53.775,208 PRAISING PTO9IATAGSN  PONYT 480,735
Seement additions o propermy and
cquipment, investment propertics and
software (Notes %, 10ond 11} F PT2,.334,043 P3.100.52 Fa4.178.4%6 PL39,614.531
Deprecimbion npd smeortizalion - ELURE L L 54039207 63087445 446,015,551
2022
Umallncined
Residential |.|:\.'|:nii:nt'I Seryieed t"lu?crrulr
Trovelopments AgIvilics Apuriments Balunce Cunsoliduted
Teveanue lrom exiermal cosloneers P2AS 118,757 P33 316,054 PITRA52351 F- X 530,587,772
ipeet costs 226,434,536 HEd 040, A8 LD B 12 52 L1 968,830.4972
Crross profit (loss) (1,315, 76%) RE3A52.019 71340299 - 1, 335,630,800
Selling, meneral and adminisirabive expensas 384,204 - — G567, 757 GILIS2 051
Cperatimg mcaome (1, 7004063 RE3 H32,009 T1.340.29% (BIMLSRT,TET) THH AR, T4
Tnteres theome = = = 1,8 R 100,258, /48
CHier income [charges) - nel (BT, TAR 504 A3 517,335 a0 {3031.071 {45 RE2 5145
Financs chares (313.581,132) (323,381,132)
Provision for income tax (K4, 112389 {84, ] 12 389
Segment peofit (logs) (REY A48 50 B 514,349,352 BTIS43T0 (BILMHSR 701 B295 59] 3R2
(Hher information
Segment asssts P3355, 038060 PISRIEITRG36 P43 057,361  FROTINS3,28R  PIONG, 168,954
Segment liabalities Bl M eTIR00 ] 193 0 ER2 Bol 264,900 HE 1s6,704,319 B 31145480020
Segmont edditions te property und
equipment, investment properties and
soferare (Notes @, 10 and L1 P P2 471,974,581 PRI A0 446 P5123.343 P2.4795274660
Dreprecimbion amd amortrzation [ 374762413 F3.572.407 45 (53 TR AT LREA1T
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2021
Unallocased
Residentinl Lensing Serviced Corporile
Developmets Aclivilies Apartiments Balunce Consolidoied
Revenue fmm external customers BL3Y 666,528 P2,00G0 T 402 P20, E80 405 P P2,367,555,310
Thirect cosis 53,053, 1t T32,701 00 03 25520 b R el
Ciruss profit 82,613,426 1,270,911,398 126,93 203 | 486,456,027
Sclling, gencral and administrative expenses (33,504,803 - - [T42,812.818) {7 407,219}
Oyperating [ncomme S0,0159.023 851425558 I26.931,203  (T42812816) 720048808
Interest income 4401497 - - HI7Z204 13,173,791
Crher income {charges) - net (522370010 (140 18] 96T) (3,732,930 383,150,501 THTARE, 50
Finince charges - (257,230,830 (257,230,830)
Provi=ion [or income tax - - - (112,784,588 (112,784,588}
Sepment profit PIL.183,510  P1136.7H.43] P123,198.273 (P70 E65 435 Ba50,245,775
Crher information
Segmenl nssels Po | 17,764,720 P1297 143,160 PRAEA4TAID P13 426953000 PIk 84300219
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Contracts receivables consist of revenues recognized to date based on the percentage-of-completion
less collections received from the respective buvers.

Interest from contracts receivables amounted to P2.7 million, nil, P4.4 million in 2022, 2021 and
2020, respectively (see Note 18).

Receivables from buyers include recervables relating to registration of titles, turnover fees and
advances pald for on behalf of buyers whereas receivables from tenants represent charges to tenants
lor utilities normally colleetible within a year.

Other receivables include accrued interest receivable pertaining to contracts receivables. Included
also in other receivables are the advances to officers and employees which perain o unliquidated
cash advances that are due within one vear, Unliquidated cash advances to officers and employees
are recoverable through salary deduction.

In 2023, the Group wrote-ofT lease receivables and receivable from tenants totaling £300.0 million
pertaining to uncollected rents during pandemic {see Note 28),

Seament liubilities B2 08,050,710 B |60, 740080 Bi6426,170  BOBSS 268 200 P13, |60.386_250
Sepment additions to property and
cquipmant, myvestment propertics and
sollware (Moles 9, 10 und 11) Bo PT31OM9657 P Fo PT32549.657
Depreciation and amortization 45935225 314,345,101 53,564,617 . 413,540,943
5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
2023 2022
Cash on hand and in banks (Mole 173 P564.424.899  BLOT09AT 485
Cash eguivalents (Note 17) 167,221,562 160,731,014
P731.646461 BI1.171.698.50]
Cash in banlks earn interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates (see Note 18). Cash equivalents earn
interest at the prevailing short-term investment rates ranging from 0.25% to 6% in 2023, 0.25% to
4.25% in 2022 and .25% to 3.5% 2021.
Interest income trom cash and cash equivalents amounted to BI5.7 million, P10.2 million and
PE.8 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (see Note 18).
fi. Trade and Other Receivables

2023 2022

Receivables from buvers P267.439.749 P236,229.47]
Receivables from tenants 141,867,154 112,400,554
Lease receivables 137,961,852 567,479,965
Contracts receivables 134.777.649 488,911,190
Receivable from related party (Nole 17) 25,686,834 25,000,000
Receivable from condominivm corporations 332,715,721 298291178
Receivable from homeowners® associations 221.794.976 153,783,162
Oithers 171,517,335 266,667 052
1,433,761,270 2.148,762,572

Less allowance for expected credit losses (Nole 28) 66,468,878 246,113,544
1,367,292,392 1,902,649 028

Less noncurrent portion of contracts receivables 14,194,615 40,298 34
P1,353,097.777  PI1.862.350.688

RO

Real Estate lnventories

.

c.

2023 2022
Pa8Y.141,218 P219,197.522
3355810460 3.855,606,626
P4,044,951,678  £4.074,804,148

Condominimm and residential units
Subdivision projects under development

A summary ol the movements in real estale inventories s sel oul below:

2023 2022
Beginning of year P4,074,804,148 P4,158,419,704
Development costs incurred and cost of returned
Inventory (285.998.947) 142,518,980
Cost of sales

(61,453,082)  (226,434,536)
317,599,559 .
£4.044,951,678  £4.074.804.148

Gain on repossession (Nole 22)
End of vear

Real estate inventories recognized as part of cost of real estate sales amounted to #61.5 million
P226.4 million, and P535.1 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Real cstate inventorics peortaining to repossessed inventories are valved at fair market value
amounting to P503.2 million and nil as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Gain on
repossession amounted to P317.6 million, nil and nil in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively
(s Note 220,
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5. Other Current Assets

2023 2022

Input VAT P812,449,760 P1,049.523.071
Creditable withholding taxes 208,168,195 155,139,638
Deferred rent assets 176,511,741 195,242 598
Advances to contractors and suppliers (Note 17) 56,928,811 76,718,492
Prepayments 24,123,127 | 9,464,254
Others 53,433,172 22,366,350
P1L331.614.906 PI1.518454,403

a.  Deferred rent asset is used to record rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Advances to contractors and suppliers are recouped every settlement of progress billings based on
percentage of accomplishment of each contract package. while advances to suppliers are deducted
ta the billing upon delivery of materials and supplies. The activities related to these advances will
be completed within the Group®s normal operating cyele,

c. Prepayments consist of prepaid commission, taxes and licenses and other prepaid expenses.

Prepaid taxes and licenses consist of unamortized portion of real estate taxes.

Investment Properties

=

Depreciation of investment properties amounting to P353.7 million, P358.4 million and
P259.9 million were recognized as part of cost of rental income in 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

Borrowing costs capitalized as cost of investment properties in 2021 amounted to P13 1.0 million,
{see Note 18). None in 2023 and 2022.

Construction in progress pertains to buildings under construction to be leased as retail and office
spaces upon completion. The development and construction period normally range from three to
five years and depends heavily on the size of the assets. During 2023 and 2022, the Company
reclassified the construction in progress into the “Condominium units” pertaining to Sunrise, New
homes, AHE. property. Eion Emerald Loft 2 and Hotel Centris amounting to #85.0 million and
WestEnd Square amounting to P2,429 8 million, respectively,

The estimated fair value of land, condominium units, and buildings for lease are as follows:

Property Approach Fair Value  Valuation Report Date
Land and land
Hmprovements Market approach 236 901,878,000 December 31, 2023
Condominium units  Market approach 4,313.813.126 December 31, 2023
Buildings for lease Market approach 1 5.024,674,000 December 31, 2023
P36.240.363,126

The estimated fair value of the land, condominium units and building lor lease was arrived at using
the Market Approach. In this approach, the value of the land and building were based on sales and
listings of comparable property registered within the vieimty. The approach requires the
adjustments of comparable property by reducing reasonable comparative sales and listings to a
common denominator. In estimating the cost of replacement of the new building and other land
umprovements, the Modified Quantity Survey Method is adopted.

The valuations were performed by Collicrs International Philippines, Ine. The valuation model used
in accordance with that recommended by the Intemational Valuation Standards Council has been
applied. These valuation models are consistent with the principles in PFRS 13, Fair Value
Measurement.

The Group's projects namely, Eton Cyberpod Corinthian and Eton Centris, were registered with
Philippine Economic Zone Authority on August 27, 2008 and Seplember 19, 2008, respectively, as
non-pioneer  “Eeoxone developer/operator”™. The locations are crealed and  designated as

Information Technology Park.

2013
Land
Land  Improvements  Condominium Cunstroction

(Mote 14)  and Buildings 1/mits in Progress Tutal
[T
Beginming of vear PHIS0E48 83 PRIFTIS 205 PAIS4ARGAA49 PS4, TOR150 P23 319.596.703
Additions 62044124 20127165 860,251 31,684,597 135716137
End of year H.412,892,963 &, 2ils 2R A30 4,187, 746,700 1LATRINZT4T 23445312840
Accumulated Deprecintion
Heainning of venr - 1.851,7584,720 483608573 - 1,335 364,202
Depreciion (Mote 2k 13,030,683 374,006,125 ELLEIERE 113
End of year — 1Bod 8BR6.412 HER.E15.608 - 1723 A02 110
Net Book Values PRAIZ892.964  PTAMLIMMY  PLAI4I0IO58  PLADIA19.791 PO T21.900L730

2022
L
Lund Improvements Condominium Construcion

(Mg 14y ond Buildinges Limits i 'ropress Total
Caost
Begnmmimg of vear PE 15048, 539  Pe2RT 183,265 PLTIS446.515 B3 96d Ba5.501 BX3 263 314,120
Additions 39670083 182,500 S1, 282,583
Reclassification - - 2429769851 (2.429.769.85]1) =
End of vear B.250, 548,430 237,153,265 4,184 566,440 1,546, 708150 23,318, 596,703

Accumulited Depreciation

Beginning of yenr 1,846,845501 130,005 535 1.%76,540,93%
Depreciation (Mot 200 e 3531513538 355,423 364
End of yew 1,851.754.720 A83.0600.573 2.335.3164,202
Mt Book Walues PR.I50,848 830 PTIRSS0ESI0 PITGLATOETG  PLS4G.TOR IS0 PX0,984.232 4010

a. Heantal income and direct operating expenses arising from the investment properties amounted to
224756 million and £1,093.4 million in 2023, £2,133.3 million and B863.7 million in 2022,

B2.009.7 million and #732.8 million in 2021, respectively.
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10, Property and Equipment

2023
Furniture,
Serviced Transportation Fixtares and Leasehold
Aparctwients Squipmest —Squipwest Joaprovemests  Tota

Clost

Hegmning of year

E993 805,562  P4T3IT07SY PIS36H3400  P24.617.238 P1,310486949

Additions 317,063 8,725,712 15,748,304 - 27.647,079
End of year U6, 9TR, 625 S0, 006,471 260 451,703 24627228 1,347.134,028
{Farward)

LR
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23
Furniture,
serviced Tramsportation Fistures nnd Leaschold
Apartments Equipment Egoipment Improvements Tatal
Aceumukated Depreciation
and Amortization
Beginning of vear BRI, 098,597 PAOBAZ546 PLIGHNT 8 E24,549. 50 BOUS. 174,809
Deprecianion and amormzation { Mote 20) S, 03,207 JIRINTH 17,685, 852 21,857 TH, 063,79
FEnd of year FET 3R 104 44,115 424 154 3K7 63K 24,601 447 6RO, 242 563
Net Book Values P6IDR45L2 F11L281.045 PI544,014 BI5,781  Pohe,RI1.I65
2022
Furmibure,
Serviced  Transporiiion Frxtumes and Leasshold
Apartiments Eouipment Equipment  Improvements Total
Coar
Beginning of vear =) Pio.a16,564 P44 500 254 Br4627 208 | 312328 804
Additions 1429446 1BX 357 LR RN = 12433 947
Petirement/ Lhaposal - {5,275,842) — - (5. 275,492y
Fnd of wear Q93 A0S 52 47 3A70.750 253 AR AN ME2T 2R 1319486949
Adeurmulated Teprocution
and Amerizalion
Beginning of year 2449 526 490 42259633 222379621 14414 hiF 53K 680,353
Dieprecianion and amomzation {Nome 20) 53,572 A07 3, TARBOS 14 318,215 134,981 TLTT4ADR
RetirementThisposal - {5,275,882) - - (5.275,892)
Tl of yeir RILEN A0 B2 546 136,697 836 24,549 500 A5, | TE ReD
Wet Book Values P, Tk, 665 P&, 538,213 Plé, 085,564 PT7638  PT14.308080

In 2022, the Group sold cortain fully depreciated property and equipment for P1.6 million. There were
no unpaid purchases of property and equipment as of Decemnber 31, 2023 and 2022,

In 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Group recognized depreciation and amortization of equipment and
leaschold improvements vsed in leasing activities amounting to P16.0 million, P95 million and
P11 million, respectively, as part of “Cost of rental income” and “Cost of rooms and other operated

department™.

-

b. The rollforward analysis of the Group’s software follows:

2023 2022
Cost
Begimning of year P91,555.655 #57,215,402
Additions 6,251,315 4,340,253
End of vear 97,806,970 91,555,653
Accumulated Amortization
Beginning of year 86.136.693 79,041,392
Amorlization (Note 20) 8,102,632 7,095,301
End of year 04,239,325 86, 136,693
Net Book Values P3,567,645 P5.418,962

In 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Group recogmized as part of “Cost ol rental income™ and “Cost of
rooms and other operated department”™ the amortization of sofiware used in leasing activities
amounting to £0.3 million, P01 million and £0.2 million, respectively.

[1. Other Noncurrent Assets

2023 2022

Advances to contractors and supplicrs (Note 17) P197,176,963 P167,917,546
Refundable deposits - net 192,486,388 [ 56,202,291
Software 3,567,645 5418962
hers 2,900,000 2,900,000
£3496,130,996 BI32. 438, 7949

Refundable deposits consist principally of amounts paid o wtility providers for service applications
and guarantee deposit required by the Malkati Commercial Estate Association (MACEA). Deposits
paid to utility companies will be refunded upon termination of the service contract while guarantee
deposit paid to MACEA will be refunded upon project completion.

12, Trade and Qther Pavables

2023 2022

Accounts payvable P1.026,836,477 PO71,853,086

Retentions payable 473,798,835 485,527 966

Taxes payable 207,137,345 485,536,576
Acerued expenses:

Utilities, oulside services and olhers 369,205,228 195,026,883

Real estate development costs 162,199,982 1,111,598 088

Interest 143,826,162 172,145,876
£2I83.094.029 PIL2] GREATS

Accounts pavable includes amount payable (o contractors for the construction and development
costs, Retentions payable pertains to the amount withheld from progress billings of the contractors
as a guaranty for any claims against them. Accounts payvable and retentions payable are normally

settled within the Group's normal operating ¢yele,

Accrued expenses represent various accruals of the Group for its expenses and real estate projects.
Acerued real estate develomment costs are construction-related aceruals for the real estate projects
of the Group.

The Company reversed aged pavables amounting to P321.51 million lodged under other deposits,
accrued project costs and other payables pertaining to long outstanding pavables which were
outstanding since prior to 201 3. These payables pertain to liabilities to suppliers and contractors
which were not claimed against the Company since 2013 and prior vears. The reversal was
approved by the Board of Dircctors on December 11, 2023,

On Janvary 5, 2024, Republic Act No. 11976 or the Ease of Paving Taxes (EOPT) Act was signed
into law, The EOPT Act was published in the Official Gazette on January 7, 2024 and took effect
15 days (Le. January 22, 2024). Such law requires, among others, the imposition of value-added
tax on services, including rentals, based on gross sales nstead of based on collection.
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Within 90 calendar days from the effectivity of the Act, the Sceretary of Finance, aller due
consultation with the BIR, and the private sector, shall promulgate the necessary rules and
regulations for its elfective implementation. Taxpayers are hereby given 6 months from the
effectivity of the Group’s implementing revenue regulations to comply with the VAT amendments,
As a result of this, the Group™s VAT imposition on its lease and service transactions is expecied to
change in compliance with the EOPT Act

As of March 6, 2024, the Department of Finance has not issued vet the implementing rules and

regulations.

13. Revenue

a. The Company’s disaggregation of each sources of revenue from contracts with customers are

presented below:

2023 2022 2021
Segments

Leasing activities 2475599345 P2,133.316.654  B2009.702.402
Serviced apartments 192,848,511 178,152,351 220,186,400
Residential developments 136,928,852 225,118,767 137,666,528
P2EDSIT6.TO8  B2A36,587.772  B2IGT.A53.339

Timing of revenue
Owver time £2.612.528.197 £2358.435421  £2,147,368,930
Poimnt in time 192,848,511 178,152 351 220186412
P2805.376.T08  P2.536,587,772  P2.367.555,339

b. Contract Balances
2023 222
Installment contracts receivable (Note 6) P134.777,649 P488911,190
Contract liahilities (customer’s deposits) 790079054 142,265,477

Customers’” deposits represent payments received from huyers of condominium and residential
units and other charges. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, customers” deposits amounted Lo
BERG.E million and P925.5 million, respectively. The balance of customers” deposils amounting to
2791 million is expecied lo be recognized as revenue by year 2024,

14. Loans Payable

Bank loans B2.425.974,764 £4461.080211
Unamortized debt 1ssue costs {14.552,382) (16,443,053
2.411.422.382 4,444 637,158
Less current porlion 505,120,202 2.0518.933,231
MNoncurrent portion P1,906,302,180  P2.385.703.927

RN AR O0

e

R ) o

In 2022 and 2021, the Parent Company availed loan drawdowns with the Bank of Philippine lslands
totaling to nil and £1,700.0 million, respectively, with a nominal rate of 5% for cach of the
drawdown. Principal repayments will commence a year from the date ol initial borrowing and due
quarterly, while interest payments are due quarterly.

In 2023, the interest rate was repriced from 3% o 7.29%,

In 2016, the Parcnl Company cntered into a loan agreement with Philippine National Bank (PNB)
amounting to 84,5000 million secured by a certain parcel of land located in Sta. Rosa, Laguna and
an office building in Ortigas Avenue, Quezon City. In the same year, the Parenl Company availed
of the loan in two drawdowns totaling £2,000.0 million, In 2017, the Parent Company had a third
drawdown of the loan with the amount of £2.490.0 million, bringing the total cash received through
PNB loan to £4.490.0 million. The term loans with PNB bears nominal interest rate of 5.0% for
five (5) years and subject to annual repricing Tor the last two (2) vears of the term. Principal
repayments will commence two years from the date of initial drawdown and due quarterly while
interest payments are due quarterly starting August 31, 2016, The loan matured on May 31, 2023
{see Notes 17 and 18),

The Parent Company entered into an unscoured term loan agreement with Asia United Bank
(AUBY, in 20016, amounting o £1,500.0 million o fnance the construction of the Parent
Company’s projects. The term loans with AUB bear nominal interest rale of 5.0%. Principal
repayments commenced two yvears from the date of availment and due quarterly while interest
payments are due quarterly starting December 28, 2016, The loan matured on Seplember 28, 2023
{see Note 18).

The Parent Company is required to comply with certain non-financial covenants and maintain
certain financial ratios, such as current ratio, debt service cost coverage and debt equity ratio. As
al December 31, 2023, the Parent Company slightly missed the debt service cost coverage
requirement, Nonetheless the Company was able to obtain a waiver from the bank to continue
reporting the amortizations due bevond |12 months as non-current.

The debit issue costs representing fees, taxes and other charges incurred in obtaining the loan were
deferred and amortized vsing the effective interest method. The amortization of debt issue cost is
recognized as part of “Finance charges™ account in the consolidated statements of income.

Movernents in the unamortized debt issue costs of bank loans are as follows:

2023 2022
Balances at beginning of year P16,443.053 B3L603.113
Amortization (Note 18) {1,890,671) i 14, 160.060)
Balanees at end of vear P14,552 382 Pl6.443.053

Interesi expense related to loans pavable, including amortization of debt issue cosl, amounted fo
P256.9 million, P258.6 million and P315.0 million, net of capitalized portion of nil, nil and
P131.0 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (see Notes 9 and 18},

(LT R
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15. Payables to Landowners 17. Related Party Transactions

2023 20022 Parties are considered to be related il one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
Three-year floating rate promissory note, signilicant mfluence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. This includes
quarterly installment PLO61.190.858 P1.061.190,858 {a) individuals owning, dircctly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control or are
: ' controdled by, or under commeon control with the Group; () associates: and (c) individuals nwning,
a. On various dates in 2014, ECT and BCI executed P1,061.2 million promissory notes, subject to directly or indirectly, an inferest in the voting power of the Group that gives them significant influence
interest rate of PDSTF 3 years +0,50%, to various landowners in relation to their purchased over the Group and close members of the family of any such individual. In considering cach related
parcels of land located in Sta. Rosa, Laguna with total purchase price of 1.4 billion. The party relationship, atiention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal

promissory notes are due on the third year ol'its execution date. In June 2017, the payment of form.

the various promissory notes was extended for another three years. In 2020, various landowners
requested for extension, and the payment of the various promissory notes was extended for
another three vears. In 2022, the promissory note was further extended for another year using

The table below shows the details of the Group's transactions with related parties.

Financial

the same interest rate. In 2023, the promissory note was further extended to June 2024 Statement Amount/Volume Outstunding Balance Tirms aml
maintaining the same interest rate. Accounl 2023 2022 2023 2022 Conditivos
Subsidiarics of Cash and cash (B402958.766) (B8, 1253805) PAGR,06G6H36  BRETL025602 Deposity and
ced i LTG caguivalents placernents:
b, Interest expense related lo payables to landowners amounted to #62.5 million, #24.1 million and Siitppsi-bedcig
B15.1 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively {see Note 18). Payable o (181.969,034)  (181.969.034) Unsecured; interesi-
landowners bearing
Leass labilities 5,374,482 35,591 565 - (5,374,482 Unsecured;
— nehInTeTes-hoaring
16. Other Liabilities Trade payables 13,346,699 (21,115.832) (7,769,133)  (21,115,332) Unsceurcd;
fipiunterest -lieiring
2023 M2 Trade recervables (1,442.247) 20586104 28,143 857 29.586,104 - Management foo:

: T 5 norinteresr -bearing
Sccunt?r d?‘?{?slb . P740,879.457 P683.464.142 Feceivable from 6¥6,834 - OH6,H34 -  Moninterest-bearing
Lease liabilities {Note 27) 483.864.419 481,603 847 related party
Advance rentals 120,771,078 112.563.422 Toans payable GRO.AT020T  (RILNRD.TRGY  (SOOO00000) (1,1R9.410,211) Tinsceured: interest-

L al i A S.550.42 beuring
DEJF]‘!‘&& rental IT_:I-(!J.'IET.'IE e 915124?“2 ::{} 30.4 ; Futities nnder Trade payables {15,289 {Mpi)) (17,440,000 (4171, 00y (17,460,000 Management foo:
Retirement benelils liabilily (Note 23) 85,102,439 58,580,182 o Cantred SO e

1,522.742.095 1,386,762,014 Loans payahle { 2000 Eh DY) { 2 i 0wy IT:ssc-.:_un.;LI: interosi-
Less current portion of; bearing
2 ; - Advanyes o 641,848 041,598 Unsecwrsd;

SCCU.I’H}T dcpﬂsj'ts 4241'334‘3?4 ::4"?46‘823 CONMMACTOES nohanteres-hearing

Addvance rentals 76,106,181 259,660,729 Parent Company  Roceivahle from

Lease liabilities (Note 27) 14,363,497 19,210,839 related party 25,000,000 25,000,000 Nonintcrest-bearing

514,504,052 333,618,391 » .
B1.008.238.043 ®1.053.143.623 Az ol December 31, 2023 and 2022, the outstanding related parly balances are unsecured and settlement
3 ¥ y - ] Faie

oceurs i cash, unless otherwise indicated. The Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables
relating to amounts owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through
examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in which these related parties
operate.

Sccurity deposits pertain to the amounts paid by the tenants at the inception of the lease which are
refundable at the end of the lease term subject to the terms and conditions of the contract, Security
deposits are inilially recorded al Tair value, which was oblained by discounting luture cash Nows using
the ¢ icable rates of similar types of insb cnls. . . .

e applicabieTales of similar (ypes of TaEthuTes Other terms and conditions related to the above related party balances and transactions are as follows:
Advance rentals pertain to deposits from tenants which will be applied against receivables either at the

e Transactions with Subsidiaries of L1G
beginning or at the end of lease term based on the lease contract. i

=  Portion of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents 15 deposited with PNB.

Delerred rental income consists of advance rental payment from land and commercial leasing. S S and B this Bapeni G oo i | P

L - AL , e Parent Company entered into an tnsecurcd 1erm [oan agreement wi I
amounting to P2.490.0 million and P2.000.0 million, respectively, to finance the construction of
the Parent Company's projects. Total oustanding payables amounting to nil and £1,189.4 million
were recorded under “Loans payable” in the consolidated statements ol financial position as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 14),
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In 2023, the Parent Company entered into an unsecured term loan agreement with Fortune Tobacco
Corporation amounting to P200.0 million and P300.0 million to finance the Parent Company’s
operation. Total ouisitanding pavables amounting to P5300.0 million were recorded under “Payable
o Related Parties™ in the consolidated statements of {inancial position (see Note 7).

In 2014, ECI] purchased parcels of land from related partics amounting o B201.8 million,
Total ouistanding pavables amounting 1o B182.0 million were recorded as part of “Payvables 1o
landowners™ as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 {see Note 15},

The Group has a lease agreement with PNB for the use of the latter’s common area as office space
of the former. In 2021, PNR assigned all the rights and interests in the lease agreement to PNB
Holdings Corporation.  In the same year, the Group and PNB Holdings Corporation executed a
lease agreement to merease the lease payments beginning 2021, As a result, the Group recognized
gain on lease contract modification amounting o £2.6 million in 2024 (see Note 27) In 2023, the
Group has renewed its lease agreement uniil 2024, Total ouwtstanding payable as of
Diecember 31, 2023 and 2022 amounts to P4.1 million and P21, | million, respectively,

In 2023 and 2022, the Group entered into service contract agreements with PNB Holdings
Corporation (PHC). Total service fees recogmzed by the Group meluded in “Service fees”
amounted o P74.8 million and #105.18 million (see Note 22). Total outstanding receivable as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 amounts 108281 million and £29.6 million, respectively.

The Parent Company has noninterest-bearing advances to PHC amounting to #0.7 million as of
December 31, 2023, for various ransactions paid by the Parent Company on behall of PHC
(Sce Mote 6.

Fransactions with Entities wnder Commoen Control

[he Group has outstanding advances o Grandspan Development Corporation perlaining (o the
development of the Group’s projects and is included as part of “COther current assets” account.
These advances were used to fund development costs and are charged as part of “Real estate
inventories” account {(see Motes 7. Band 11

In 2001, the Group entered into a management contract agreement with Basic Holdings
Corporation. Total management foe recognized by the Group included in “Outside services”
amounted to B531.6 million, £72.0 million and £72.0 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively
(see Note 200, Total outstanding pavable as of as of Decomber 31, 2023 and 2022 amounts to
B4.2 million and £17.5 million,

In 2023, the Parent Company cntered into an unsceured ferm loan agreement with Himumel
Industries Incorporated amounting to #1000 million and #100.00 million to finance the Parent
Company's operation. Total outstanding pavables amounting to P200.0 million and were recorded
under “Pavahle to Related Parties™ in the consolidated statements of linancial position as of
Diecember 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Mote 17).

Transactions with Parent Company

lhe Group has noninterest-bearing advances 1o ils ultimatle parent, Tangent Holding Corporation,
amounting to P25.0 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (sce Note 6).

AR R

<] -

The following are the transactions and balances among related parties which are eliminated in the
consolidated statements of financial position:

Amounts Amounts
owed hy: owed to; Terms and Conditions 2023 2022
ECI EPPI Advances:
noninterest-bearing PRI, 010,650 035,935,330
EHLI EPFI -dio- 52,902,972 52,852,072
ECI BCI -tlo- 50,784,169 S0.TH4.169
EPFPI BCI -do- 19,786,596 -
|8, Interest Income and Finance Charges
2023 2022 2021
Interzst income:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) 15,650,170 L10.235.648 B5.772.294
Contracts receivables (Note 6) 2,737,693 4.401,497
PIRIRTR6I  PIO23R A48 P13,173.791
2023 2022 2021
Finance charges
Interest expense on:
Loans payable (Note 14) P256,923,554 PI5LS08018 £314.952,29]
Payables (o landowners (Mote 15) 62,531,175 24,118,361 18,073,808
Lease liabilities (Note 27) 40,704,848 40397474  40.438,053
Securily deposils 31,584,595 34,133 13,569,134
391,749,172 323,147.986 387.035.2%7

Capitalized interest in investment properties
(Notes 9, 14 and 13)

(130,975.%68)

Bank charges

391,749,172
15,722

323,147,986
234.445

256,056,319
1,174,511

£391,764,894

P323.382.431

B257.230.830

Capitalization rate for general and specilic borrowing in 2021 is 5.16% and 3.95%., respectively, No

borrowings made for investment properties in 2023 and 2022 (sce Notes 9, 14, and 15),

19, Selling Expenses

2023 2022 2021

Advertising and promotions $5,583.846 £2.376,994 £1.931.487
Commissions 6,397,392 384,294 23,594,403
P11,981,238 P2,761,288 P25,525.890
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Rental dues pertain to income arising from charges and expenses recharged to tenants. Loss on
cancelled contracts represents the loss incurred by the Group as a result of cancellation of contracts to

2023 2022 2021 sell by the buyer or the Group in general.

Personnel costs (Note 21) B171,807.808 P145,539.939 P225494.105
Outside services (MNote 17) 124,882,879 L9 098,705 118,850,122 Crain (loss) on forfeitures and cancelled contract arises from the difference between the fair value of
Depreciation and amortization the repossessed inventories and the amounts refurned to buyers as a result of the cancellation of

(Motes 10 and 11) 115,902,929 07 873,192 95 19K HEO contracts.
Taxes and licenses 102,476,205 00,480,554 70,004,601
Repairs and maintenance 93,767.845 38,041.903 44,463,621 Oithers include gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment, gain on contract modification, day
Provision for ECL (Note 28) 23.967.960 57.278.36% 131,169 490 | gain on security deposits, forfeited deposits and miscellaneous income,
Communication, light and water 21,282,549 27.201.493 12,558,937
Professional fees 9,285,978 9,752,769 8.807.107
Travel and transportation 6,011,513 6,140,325 4,034,657 23, Retirement Benefits
Entertainment. amusement

and recreation 4,939,603 2,592,300 1,550,901 RA No. 764| (“Retirement Pay Law™), an Act Amending Article 287 of Presidential Decree No. 442
Cieneral insurance 4,923,412 3,254 661 3,118,132 {“Labor Code of the Philippines™), requires a provision for retirement pay to qualified private sector
Office supplies 1,974,275 2,106,967 4313362 employees in the absence of any retirement plan in the entity, provided, however, that the cmployee’s
Others 69,237,679 8,828,279 21,297 414 relirernent benelits under any colleclive bargaining and other agreements shall notl be less than those

P50, 460,645 P508, 189,464 P740,8%1,329 provided under the law. The law does nol require minimum [unding of the plan,

Others include expenditures training and seminar fees, subscription fees, membership fees, corporate
ads and promos, donation and rescarch and development costs which are individually not material.

21, Personnel Costs

O June 26, 2018, the Board of Directors approved the new retirement plan for the Group’s employees.
The kev differences between the new and old retivement plans are as follows:

* The new retirement plan provides carly retirement benefit,
The old retirement plan provides an emplovee 17,50 days final basic salarv for every vear of service
with a {raction of six months considered as one vear, while the new retirement plan provides

2023 222 2021 22.5 day-final monthly salary for every year of service upon normal or late retirement and a
Salarics and wages P133,252,534  P147970.989  BR159.448.779 pereentage of the acerued retirement benefits for carly retirement.
Employee benelits 52,118.945 41,061,397 58,259,062 . - . ; — ;
Retirement benefits cost The Group is in a Multi-Employer Eetirement plan which 1= poncontributory and based on the linal
(Note 23) 15,967,942 15,019,802 37,606,309 salary delined benelit type.
P201,339.421 P204,052.188 P255,314,150

The Group recognized persomnel costs amounting to #29.5 million, £51.4 million and #29.8 million
under “Cost of rooms and other operated departments™ in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively,

The retirement fund of the Group is maintained by PNB as the trustee bank. The Group’s transactions
with the fund maioly pertain 1o contribution made for the year. The cost of defined benefit pension plan
and the present value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations.

The tables below summarize the components of the net retirement henefits costs recognized in the
consolidated statements of income and the fonded states and amounts recognized in the consolidated

22. Other Income (Charges) - Net

stalements of [inancial position,

2023 2022 2021

Reversal of long outstanding payable

(Mote 12) P376,102.771 P-
Gain {loss) on forfeitures and

cancelled contracts 115,996,331 (114.809.817) (52,237,010
Service fees (Note L7) 74,800,231 105,184,177 163,321,975
Rental dues 11,808.810 19,215,855 424,003,840
Penalty income and late

payment charges 2,315.441 . 666,046 2,500,244
Others - net (Mote 14 32,738,198 (68.912,384) 40,785,609

P613,761.783 (B52.656,123)  B378,374.718

AR R
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2021

Present Value of Net Accrued

Defined Benefit Fair Value of Retirement

Obligations Plan Assets Benefits

Beginning balances

$144.748 437

(#1.015,257)

R143.733, 180

Met retirement benelits costs recognized
in the consolidated statement of
Lneome;

2023
Present Value of MNet Accrued
Defined Benefit Fair Value of Retirement
Obligations Plan Assets Benefits
Beginning balances P59,610,337 {P1.030,155) P5R.580,182
Mel relirement benelits costs recognized
in the consolidated statement of
neome:
Current service cosl 11,612,755 - 11,612,755
Net interest cost 4,431,418 {76,231) 4,355,187
16,044,173 {76,231) 15.967,942
Benefits paid directly by the Group (1,824,393) = (1,824,393)
Femeasurement losses {gains) in other
comprehensive income - actuarial
changes arising from:
Change in [nancial assumptions 15,752,710 - 15,752,710
Demographic assumptions (1,402,577) = (1,402,577)
Experience adjustments (2,002,915) - (2,002,915)
Retumn on plant assets - 31.490 31 4%0
12,347,218 J1.490 12,378,708
Ending balances PR6,177,335 {P1.074,896) £85,102.439
2022
Present Value of Net Accrued
Defined Benefit Fair Value of Retirement
Ohligations Plan Assets Benefits

Beginning halances

Pl142,151,873

(FLOITRS1)

#141.134.022

Met retirement benelits costs recognized
in the consolidated statement of
meome:

Current service cost 28919436 - 28.919.436
Met interest cost 7420586 (52,928) 7.3A07.658%
Settlement gain (25,359.830) = (25,359.830)
10,980,192 {52,928) 10,927,264
Benefits paid directly by the Group [2.286.942) (2,286,047
Remeasurement losses (gains) in other
comprehensive income - actuarial
changes arising from:
Change in financial assumptions (37.424.526) - (37,424 520)
Expenence adjustments (53.810,260) (53,8100, 260)
Return on plant assets - 40,624 40,624
(91,234 TR6) 40 624 (91,194, 162)
Ending balances P50.610,337 (P1.030,15%) P38.580.182

Current service cost 31,683,722 31.6R3.722
Net interest cost 5,964,213 {41,626) 3,922,587
37.647.935 {41.626) 37,606,309
Remeasurement losses (gains) in other
comprehensive ineome - actuarial
changes arising [rom:
Change in financial assumptions (31475 178) (31,475 178)
Experience adjustments (8,769.321) - (B,769.321)
Return on plan asset 39.032 39032
(40,244 4009) 39.032 (40,205 467)
Ending balances P142,151,873 (PLOL7,851)  PL41,134,022

The retirement benefits liabilities recognired as part of “Other noncurrent liabilities™ in the consolidated
statements of financial position amounted to #85.1 million and B538.6 million as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively (see Note 16).

The fair value of the plan assels amounting to 1.1 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 i
comprised of financial assels measured al fair value through profit or loss. Actual retum on plan assets

amounted to P44,241, P12,304, and P2,5%4 in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively,

The principal assumptions vsed in determining retitement benefits cost as of December 31 follow:

2023 2022 2021

Discount rate 0.20%% 7404 520%

Salary increase rate 10.00% 1000 10.00%5
Average future working vears

of service 12.40 12.590 13.44

The sensitivity analysis below has heen determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of the end of the reporting period, assuming
all other assumptions were held constant:

2023 2022 2021
Discount rate +1.0% (B75:067.464) +1.0% (P33459.342) +1L.0% (P22,482,963)
-1.0% 103,046,024 -1.0% 72253802 -1.0%  28267.530

Fulure salary increase rate  +1.0% 102,287,788 +1.0%  TLASAS80G +1.0%  26,628.432
-L0% (75,368,341)  -1.0%  (53,5368938) -L.0% (21,785370)

R RO
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24, Income Taxes

a.

Details of the Group’s provision for current income tax follow:

2023 2022 2021
RCIT P154.685,164 141,735,270 P231.532.562
Final 3.116,179 2,301,044 1,782,272
MCIT 1.633.879 TRE, 142 596,853
Adjustment in the current period
for income tax of priot period = = (19.513.001)
P157.801.342 P144 824 456 P214 398,686

The Group’s recognized net deferred income tax liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022

g b

Details excess MCIT incurred in the past three years and NOLCO incurred in 2023 follow:

Excess MCIT
Balance as of Balance as of
Dec 31, December 31, Available
Year [ncurred 2022 Additions Applied Expired 2023 Until
20210 P03, 468 P £ (BO03.468) P 2023
2021 506,833 - - - 596,853 2024
2022 TEE.142 (234,373) 553,709 2025
2023 ~ 1633879 - -~ 1.633,879 2026
P1LUSE A6 PI63IIETY  P234.373 Po03 468 B2,.784,501
NOLCO
Balance as of Balance as of
December 31, December 21,
Y car Incurred 2022 Additions Applied 2023 Available Until
2022 P20.490,045 P— (P15403412) P14,086,633 2025

On September 30, 2020, the BIR issued Revenue Repulations No, 25-2020 implementing
Section 4(bbbb) ol *Bayanihan Lo Recover As One Act” which states that the NOLCO incurred for
tuxable years 2020 and 2021 can be carried over and claimed as a deduction from gross income for
the nexi five (5) consecutive taxable vears immediately following the yvear of such loss.

Details of the Group™s NOLCO incurred in 2021 and 2020 follow:

follow:
2023 2022
Delerred income taxes directly recognized in
prolit or loss:
Deferred income lax assels on:
Lease liability P120,966,105  £120.400.962
Retirement benefits liability 63,349,435 S0.813,548
Advance rentals 41,915,296 34,590,204
Accrued expenses 39,635,135 40,824 700
Allowance for estimated credit losses 18,325,079 6,658,840
284,191,150 320,288,254
Deferred income tax liahilities on:
Capitalized borrowing cost (202.638.329) (202.638.329)
Difference between tax basis and book basis
of accounting for real estate transactions (91.217.298) (16.381.912)
Right-of-use assets (45,816,102) (49.518.931)
Deferred rental income (31.216.909) (45.019.931)

Others (17.818,095)  (18.975.428)
(388,706.731)  (332,534.531)

Deferred income tax liability on gains arising from
changes in actuarial assumptions directly
recognized in equity (41,163,910} (44,258,587)

(P145,679.491)  (P56.504.864)

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group has not recognized deferred income tax assets on
the carrviorward benefits of NOLCO and excess MCOIT based on the assessment that sufficient
taxable profit will not be available to allow the deferred income tax assets to be utilized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

2023 2022

P11,572,781 P12,507,872
{(157,252.272)  (69.012.736)
(P145,679,491) (56,504 864)

Deferred income tax assets - net
Deferred income tax habilities - net

ARV R

NOLCOD
Balance as of Balance as of
December 31, December 31,
Y ear Incurred 2022 Additions Apphied 2023 Awvailable Unnl
2020 Pi6.63E. 496 P (B3380,734) P31,257.762 2025
2021 12,220,003 - - 12,225,003 2026
P48 B6T. 499 P (B5AR0,734) P43 486,765

A reconciliation of the provision for income tax at the applicable statutory income tax rate to the
provision for income tax as shown in the consolidated statements of income follows:

2023 2022 2021
Provision for meome tax at the satutory
moome lux rale P248.988,034 Bug 925 960 P165,757,593
Adjustments for:
Nondeductible expenses 1,250,179 1,835,852 [616.963
Movement in temporary differences,
NOLCO and excess MCIL Tor
which no deferred income tax
assels were recognized 628,797 &, 160,454 3,654,104
Interest meome subjected to final tax (T96.364) (2,893,710 (2,193,074)
Others = (17.916,176) {56,050,998)
Provision for mncome tax 2250,070,646 254,112,389 #2112, 784,588

A0
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[ On June 20, 2023, the Burcau ol Intermnal Revenue 1ssued Revenwe Memorandum Cireular (RMC)
Mo, 69-2023 reverting the Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) rate to 2% of gross income
effective July 1. 2023 pursuant o Republic Act (RA) No. 11534, otherwise known as the
“Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises (CREATE)” Act. MCIT rate was
previously reduced from 2% to 1% effective July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2023 upon the effectivity of

cancellable lease term.  The Group recognized varable rental income amounting to B30.6 million,
P4.8 million and #3.7 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Future minimum rentals receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31 follow:

CREATE Actin 2021. 2023 2022
Within one year B1,763,075,105 P524,923,707
MCIT s effective rate in 2023 is 1.5% in accordance with RMC 69-2023, After one year but not more than five years 5.162,602.080  2,125.760.254
More than five vears 11,638,752 77256419

P6,937,315.937  P3,030,94),380

25, Equity
The Group ax fesvee

Capital Stock s  The Group entered into a renewable cancellable lease agreement with PNB, which generally

provides for a fixed monthly rent for the Group’s office spaces. In 2021, PNB assigned all the rights

and interests in the lease apreement o PNB Holdings Corporation. In the same year, the Group and

PNB Holdings Corporation executed a lease agreement to increase the lease payments beginning

Number of 2021, As a result, the Group recognized gain on lease contract modification amounting to
Shares Amount B2.6 million (see Notes 17 and 27). In 2023, the Group renewed its lease until 2024,

Details of the Parent Company’s capital stock as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Authorized capital stock at 81 par valoe

Beginning and end of year 8,000,000.000  P8.000.000.000 ®  The Parent Company also entered into various lease agreements as follows:
Issued and outstanding capital stock

atl P1 par value a. Lease agreements with third parties [or the lease of parcels of land in Ortigas Avenue, Quezon
Issued capital stock 5,723,017.872  $5,723,017,872 City where one of the Parent Company's projects is located. The lease agreement shall be for
Trcasury shares (10.000) (7.955) the period of 20 years which commenced on Januwary 1, 2011 renewable for another 20 vears at

Outstanding capital stock 5,723,007.872  $5.723,009.917 the option of the lessee, the Parent Company, with lease payment subject to 5% escalation

annually,

The issued and outstanding registered shares are held by 1,671 and 1668 stockholders as of ) _ ) ) )

December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively., b, Lease agreement for the lease of parcels of land in San Juan City where one of the
Parent Company's projects is located, The lease agreement shall be for the period of 15 vears
commencing on June 1, 2017 renewable at the option of the lessor with lease payment subject

26. Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic/diluted earnings per share were calculated as follows:

to 5% escalation annually.

The rollforward analysis of the right-ol-use assets (ROU) account Tollows:

2023 2022 2021 I:?ﬂlilh .
Net income P745.881.491  P$295.591.362 P3530,245.775 " varse 0 _
Divided by weighted average -an mprovements ota

mumber of common shares 5.725.007.872 5,723,007 872 5,723,007 872

Basic/diluted earnings per share

P0.1303 BOOS16 B0.0961

There are no potential dilutive common shares, thus, basic and diluted earnings per share are the same.

Cost
Beginning and end of vear

P235436,760 P56,898.992 P291.335,752

Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization

Beginning of year 41,737,884 52,522,146 94,260,030

Amortization (Note 20) 10,434,470 4.376.846 14.811.316

Biid of veus 52,172,354 56.898.992 109,071,346

1. Leases Net Book Values 183,264,406 P—  P183,264,406

{he Growp ay fessor

The Group entered into lease agreements with third parties covering ils investment property portiolio,
These leases generally provide for either (a) fixed monthly rent, or (b) minimum rent or a certain
percentage of gross revenue, whichever is higher. The Group records rental income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term and a certain percentage of gross revenue of tenants, as applicable, on a non-
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2022
Leasehold
Land  Tmprovements Total
Cost
Beginning and end of year P235 436,760 Pah,RYE.002 $393,335.752
Accumulated Depreciatinn
and Amortization

Beginning of vear 3,303,411 26,261,073 57,564 486
Amortization (Mote 20) 10,434,471 26,261,073 36,695 544
End of year 41,737,884 52.522 146 94,260,030
Met Book Values P193,698,874 P4.376,846 R19R073,722

The following are the amounts recognized in consolidated statement of income for the years ended

December 31:

2023 2022 2021
Interest expense on lease
liabilities (Note 18) P40,704,848 240,397 474 B40,438,053
Amortization expense of right-of-
Lse assets 36,695,544 36,095,544 36,695,544

P77.400,392 P77.093,018 B77,133,5397

The rollforward analysis of lease labilities as at and for the yvear ended December 31 follows:

2023 2022
Beginning of vear B481.603,847 P308,596,715
Interest expense (Nole 18) 40,704,848 40,397,474
Rental pavments'pavable (38,444,276) (67.390.342)
End of yvear 483,864,419 481,603 847
Less current portion (MNote 16) 14,363,497 19,210,839
Noncurrent portion (Note 16) P469,500,922 P462,393,008

The Group has lease contracts that include extension and termination oplions. These oplions are
negotiated by management Lo provide Mexibility in managing the leased-assel portlolio and align with
the Group’s business needs, Management exercises significant judgement in determining whether these
extension and termination options are reasonably certain to be exercised (see Note 2).

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the vndiscounted lease pavients:

I

28. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group's principal financial instruments are cash and cash equivalents, payables to landowners and
loans pavable. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations,
The Group has various financial assets and fnancial liabilities such as trade and other receivables,
refundable deposits, trade and other payables and security deposits, which arise direetly from ils
operations.

It is the Group’s policy that no trading of financial instruments shall be undertaken. Management
closely monitors the cash fund and financial transactions of the Group. Cash funds are normally
deposited with banks considered as related parties, and financial transactions are normally dealt with
related parties. These strategies, to an extent, mitigate the Group’s interest rate and credit risks.

Exposure o credit, liguidity, interest rate and loreign currency nisks arise in the normal course of the
Group's business activities. The main objectives ol the Group's financial risk management are:
{a) to identify and monitor such risks on an ongomyg basis. (b) to minimize and mitigate such risks, and
{c) to provide a degree of certainty about costs.

The BOD reviews and approves the policies lor managing these risks which are described below.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its counterparties failed to discharge their
contractual obligations. The Group's credil risks are primarily attributable to cash in banks and cash
equivalents, contracts receivables and other financial assets.

Credit risk is managed primarily through analysis of receivables on a continuous basis. In addition, the
credit risk for contracts receivables is mitigated as the Group has the right to cancel the sales contract
without the risk for any court action and can take possession of the subject property in case of refusal
by the buyer to pay on time the contracts receivables due. This risk is further mitigated because the
corresponding title to the property sold under this arangement is transferred to the buyers only upon
full payment of the contract price.

The carrving amount of cash in banks and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and refundable
deposits represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components
of the consolidated statements of financial position follows:

2023 2022

Financial assels al amortized cost
Cash in banks and cash equivalents*® P723.488.354 P1.168.2460.657
Trade and other receivables:

2023 2022
1 year #£34.684,052 £33.032 430
More than | year to 2 years 22,656,938 21,578,036
Wlore than 2 years to 3 vears 23,789,785 22,656,938
More than 3 years to 4 vears 24979274 23,789,785

More than 3 years

1,337,677,054

1.376,583,554

Receivable from buyers 267,439,749 509458017
Receivable from tenants 141.867.154 112,102,568
Lease receivables 137,961,852 558,560,831
Contracts receivables 134,777,649 488,911,190
Receivable from buyers 267,439,749 509458017

fFarward)

CRTERRA RN
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23 2022

Lease receivables P137.961,852 P33R, 506,831
Receivahles from related party 25,686,834 25 000,000
Ortheps** 719,901,432 453, 146,114
Refundable deposits 192 486,388 156,202,291

PL749011,013  P4.539.658.516

*Eveluding cosh on hand amoweting o PSS mlion and P44 miilren as of December 30, 2023 ond 2022, respecinely.
*rExvcludimr odhvamces o afficery and employees amownitngr to Pa D mitlion awd £1.6 million av of December 31, 2023
d’.l?:‘I .'-"I‘}.:'.". n'T.'.'l'Pl"‘{'ln'Ti'nll'l'

Set out below 1s the information aboul the eredit risk exposure on the Group’s financial assets using a
provision mafrix,

December 31, 2023:

Cash in banks Trmde nndd oiher receivahles
and cash Refundalble Tlass prask diie
wajiaivalenly elegirasils { i rvnl A0 dhivs SN il Tl -] il s =41 diys Walnls
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The tables show the maturity profile of the Group®s other financial habilities (undiscounted amounts of
principal and related interest) as well as the undiscounted cash flows from financial assets used for

Expected credil

loss rate ~*a R 19% % 1954 B 450
Estimratel tolal

gruss carrying

ligquidity management.

et At
defauli FTIL 646461 PIOT 486 J8H ] 106, 580 755 17,800,404 PE TR 1T BT TIZESE  PIASTHAURD B3 SSTHAG11W
Expecied credil loss P B3LA3E FL17.263.003 F3 829,670 P3.004 537 P5.749510 P36.022,070 P73 300318

December 31, 2022

Uash i honks sl sl asthasy viveivalilis
aued cash Letopdatde Bhays bt dhuwss
equivalents deposics Crrent =350 daws A0l daws 516t days = 61 davs Tatals

Txpecrad credis 0.0] LR LRSS 0, 015%- 2 060 i

Logs rage — LIRS L5.aE ELE b EOO. 0% Lo HLLE Ut
Estimated tofal gross

SITYINY M

at bl BLIGT TG 65T  BIGTA2T W] R T93.0016. 438 B25 613 344 B13 164747 £11, 558 177 BINSAQR BT 83 ATE067. 140
Expected credit boss L P&, 1 25 620 B3, 797,726 B3, 120,085 B3 265300 BIL7T61631 P35 20,701 P52 339,164

Movement of the allowance for expected credit losses in 2023 and 2022 follow:

2023 2022
Beginning balances P252,239.164 P194,960,796
Write off (Note 6) (198,792,650} —
Provisions 13,967,960 57,278 368
Reversals (4,114.156) -

Ending balances £73,300,318 £252.239.164

The Group is not exposed to concentration risk because it has a diverse base of counterparties.

Liguidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as risk that the Group would not be able to settle or meet its obligations on
time. The Group maintains sufficient cash in order to fund its operations.

In mitigating liquidity risk, management measures and forecasts its cash commitments, matches debt
maturitics with the assets being financed, maintains a diversity of funding sources with its unhampered
access to bank financing and the capital markets and develops viable funding altematives through its
customers” deposits arising from the Group’s pre-selling activities.

LRI

Less than More than
As of December 31, 2023 On demand 1 year 1 year Tuotul
Financial liabilitics:
Trade and other pavables:
Accounts pavables® B PLO1653835% B £1.016.538 358
Retentions payvahle - 473, T35 - 473 TU8. 835
Accruocd expenses - 675,321.372 - 675,321,372
Lease linbilities®™ - 34.684.052 140 103,051 1, 443,787,103
Loans pavable™™ - 505,120,202 1506 302,180 2411422 382
Pavahle to related partics T, (bOHD G0 LR
Payahble to landowners - 1.061,190.858 - 1.061,190,858
Security deposits™ = 446,357,260 333,525090 TTORELISN
B- B40130004937  B36d48.930,321 BH. 561,941,258
Finuncial wsscts:
Cash and cash cquoivalents B50A 424 899 BIGT 221,562 P B3 66401
Trade and other receivables™ ==~ = 1. 353,097,777 14, 1'.615 1.367.292.392
B564.424.890 £1,520.319.339 £14,1'"4.615 P21,098.938.853
=“Exclndimy povable io gonvermmen) arencies omonrliing fo #T03 millon.
* 4 il i dene 0 MY RHRERE i B0 0 W mian
= fcliding nteresr fo makerlty asrolanag fo P o milfisn
EREFackeling interest fo manow amoreting 547 milion
e vnindigr advire ey do affioers and ompiTeey @A w M i
T.ess than More than
Az of December 31, 2022 i demand I vear 1 vear Total
Financial lHabilities:
I'rade and other pavables:
Accounts payubles® P- P9G4 330421 P POs4 330421
Retentions payable - 485,527,966 - ARE 52T 966
Aecrucd cxpenscs L1478, 77T E4T LATE 0847
Lease liabilities*** 33032420 1.444.608.313 1477640743

Loans payahle®*** - |.425 235,575 3,595,231 ,335 5020406900
Pavahle o landowners - - IRIE I EH R 1,061, 190,858
Socurily deposis® =+ +* 30871354 402 572 907 719444461
P P4.6596. 768,793 P 3 10.603.413 £11.207.372 206

Financial assets;
Cash and cash equivalents BI1LMO ST 485 RI60T3T.016 b #1,171.098.501
Trade and other receivables®*® ~ 1 860 7T RI6 40298 340 1901071 176
P10 GAT 485 P2.021,503 852 P40 298 340 PR OT2 769677

“Exchidimr papable io goveIminRms @ramoies omonrREng to #75 mailiion
R v fating aelviraces i officers i ewinloreer dmsmaniieg o B G aiihicn
T ichiting inferesl Jo malriy amornfing fo PH96 O miflion
wassfarhedime (nteres! fo meno Ty emornting ta B3 758 ealiton

PR Inchvding idfterest o matnedy amodandiag fo P30 million

Foreign currency Fisk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk om volatility ol earmnings or capital arising [rom changes in foreign
exchange rates, mainly US Dollar to Peso exchange rate, The Group’s exposure to oreign currency
risk arises from US Dollar-denominated cash and cash equivalents,

The following table shows the Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in US dollar and their

peso equivalents as of December 31. 2023 and 2022,

US Dollar Value Peso Equivalent

2023 51,328,030 B75,203,019
2022 $1.388,323 B77.412.890



The exchange rate used as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were P55.27 to USS1.00 and P55.76 to
USS1, respectively, The Group recognized net foreign exchange gain amounting to 2.6 million and
P68 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The table helow represents the impact on the Group’s income before income tax as a result of a
reasonably possible change in US Dollar to Peso exchange rate with all other variables held constant
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, There is no impact on the Group’s equity other than those already
alfecting the consolidated statements ol income.,

Effcet om Income
hetore Income Tax

Change m Dollar
Foreign Exchange Rate

20213 (1.51%) (P169.456)
L.51% 169.456

an22 (9. RB0%) (B7.586.463)
0.80% 7,586,463

Fair Value Infommation

Presented below is the comparison ol the carrving values and [air values ol the Group’s [inancial assels
and liabilities that are presented in the consolidated statements of financial position as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022,

2023 2022
Carrying
Vialue Fair Value Carrving Value Fair Value
Financial Assets
Cash on hand BR158,106 PR 158, 106 P3.771 844 P3.721,844
Cash in banks and cash
equivalents T23 488,355 TIIAB8.355 1167976657 167976637
Loans and receivables:
Contracts reeemvables 134,777,048 134.777.048 4EE.011,100 SGRE 917,100

Receivables from buyers 267,439,749 283,138,402 09458017 320428 771
Lease receivables 137.961.852 137,961,852 558,560,831 58,566,831
Refundable deposits®* 192,486,388 203,785,339 156,202,291 162325420
Receivable from related party 25.680.434 15,080,834 25,000,004 25,000, 0K
Receivables from tenants 141.867.154 141,867,154 112,102,568 112,102,568
Others® 719,901,431 745,601,912 453,146,114 476,913,628
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The lollowing methods and assumptions are used to estimate the lair value of each class of financial
and non-financial instruments:

Cavh and cavh equivalents, trade and other receivables, rade and other payvablex

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other
payables, approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments, The
noneurrent portion of trade reecivables is interest-bearing with interest rates that approximate market
interest rates as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,

Refundable deposiis
The carrying value of deposits is the best estimate of its [air value since the related contracts and
agreements perlaining lo these deposits have indeterminable lerms,

FLease liabilities, loans pavable, pavables to landowners and security deposits

The fair values of loans payable, payables to landowners and security deposits are estimated using the
discounted cash flow method based on the discounted value of future cash flows using the applicable
risk-free rates for similar types of instruments. The discount rates used range from 0.14% to 7% and
1.96% to 8.53% as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Management has determined the
inputs to be Level 3.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of the financial
instruments by valuation technigue;

» guoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1);

* those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level | that are observable for the asset,
either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level Z): and,

s those inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
(Level 3).

In 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers between Levels | and 2 fair value measurements, and no
transfers into and out of Level 3 measurements.

PLISLTOTA1T PLA04465,662 PIATS0R5512  PA324 046,909

* Ryelivdig cevarae s fo olifieers oo ampirpess amounnag e B8 slivom end 214 srilar od of December 81, WM awd 0022, repeciivady,
4 Presemied as part ke momocrenT arseis " accmme

2023

2022

Carrying Value

Fair Value

Carrving Value

Fair Value

Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities:
Trade and other payahles:
Accounts pavable*

#1,016,583,358 #1,016,583,358

Pon4,336,394

Po71.853.0806

Retentions payvable 475, 798.835 473,798,835 485.527.964 485,527,964
Accrued expenses 075,321,372 675,321,372 1 4TR.7T0RAT 1478770347
Lease habilities 453.864.419 472587007 481,603,847 (O EE 61
Loans payable 3111422382 2986477750 4444 637,158 4,538, 827481
Pavables to landowners LOGLIZNESE  LOGLI90B58 1061190858 1061, 190,858
Sccunty deposits™® STR094.440 T40.879.457 671,599,899 B 70,694, 044

F7.340,275,664 #7,426,839,537

P9 SET 660,97

PO B0 H00

* Excluding penarhile fo poverroment apenctes amarting o @703 million gnd P75 pillean ax of December 31, X123 and W12, respecivah:
T Preverelon s Jaaen af Ui dpperiits i e fiadilies " ared TSR podierrrean Safiliiey T o el

AR

29,

Capital Management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
raling, complies with extemnally imposed capital requirements and maintain healthy capital ratios in
order o support 113 business and maximize stockholder value,

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments fo it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
stockholders, return capital to stockholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives. policies or processes for the vears ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, Accordingly. the
Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

(TR ETT
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The table below summarizes the total capital considered by the Group: i
Payables to Lease Avorued

2023 222 |Laxagia Pavahle Landowners Liabilitics Ingerest Tiatal
S - Begr bielam P6.09]1, 735034 PLOGL 190858 P494 030657 P1&3,407,123 PIEID373.572

Capital stock P5,723,017,872 P5.723.017.872 ettt ; ’
Additional paid-in capital 8,206,662,618 B206.602.6018 Avniliment of lotns 1,200,000 1. 700,000,000

Retained earnings 6,271.143,150 5.525.261,639 Fycnrak
5 g : 2 5 Lains {1645 030,800} = == = {1643 230,000)
Treasury shares (7,955) (7.953) Lease hahilites {6,696,555) {h696,555)
P20.200,815,685 P19,454034. 104 Tnterest - - [OAIR05T)  (331SIRTS) (ATAESAROT)
[efsl pssue costs (L2 TE0AM0 ) L2 TS0 M0y
Mon-cash movement:

= - Amorizzation of debi ssue cosis 1,646,764 10,646, 7hs
30, C'I}IJIJDEEIICIES Cian on comiraet modiBcation (7.335811) {T.335.811)
Tinpact of lease modilication = = 21253613 - 21,253.613
Tnberest mourred = = 4425053 323,555,847 263,991,900

The Group has various contingent liabilities from legal cases arising from the normal course of business
which are currently being contested by the Group. The outcomes of these cases are not currenily
determinable. Management and its legal counsel believe that the eventual liability from these legal
cases, 1 any, will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements,

Endimg balenices P, 056,366,887 #1061, 1490 558 FAOE306,715 P153.444.216  PIESD, 595076

311, Notes to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

The principal non-cash investing and lnancing activities of the Group follow:

Borrowing costs capitalized as cost of investment properties in 2023, 2022 and 2021 amounted to
nil, nil and P13 1.0 million, respectively (see Note 9).

Non-cash financing activity of the Group pertains to the amortization of debf 1ssuce costs amounting
to #31.0 million, £14.2 million and 8106 mullion n 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively

(see Mote 14).

Reconciliation of the movements of liabilitics arising from financing activitics are as follows:

i
Fayahle tn Payahbes ta Teasc Acored
Lnans Pavable  related pantics Tandarners T.iabdlities Imtcrest Tatal
Raginneng halances P 44,607,158 B B AT, ESE PR A0 RAT BRT2, Rl ane PA,ISAITRTE
Cash movomenls:
Fawnent afn
Loans (2,035, 105,807 = - - - (2.03E 108 57
Lenss liabilizies - - (3R 444,30 - (38.444.276)
Tnbewes B - = - (FIRVITASR) (HRIITARS)
Avatimen of loan = TO 0 G - - - T, M M)
Maecash maveirenn
Anmriaton ol debl ssux
onsk 1.891,121 - - - - 1,891,121
Inierest meurred = ¢ = AL T4 BT 317263608 I5H. 268454
Ending halinos PLAVIATE AT WTOILWHLINE B1LOG]190,R5% PLiH3BAS. 418 PIARTA 162 B XM, A1H K22
2022
Payahles tn Lense Acorned
Luoans f':s_v'.lhle Landowner Tazbiliies Trileresi Trstal
Beginning balunces P, da 3660 887 PLOGT 90,855 PA08,596,715 PI5S3@44.216 PTAS0 S0R6Th

Cash movements:
Pavment af:
Loans
Lease habilities
Interest
NLII:I-LTJHEI o el

(1, 75.B89,TED)

(67.390.342)

(250,089,104

{1,705,.889,789)
{67, 35H1,342)
(250,08, 10M)

Amornization of debt mane costs 14, 1 ai el 14, 16010
Interest incurred = N 40,397 474 268,824 897 30922371
Ending balances P4 446371538 PLOGL I90.E58 PAE1 603,847 PI72 180,000 B 159611872
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Tircctors
Eton Propertics Philippines, Tne,

8F Allied Bank Center, 6754 Avala Avenue
Makati City, Metro Manila. Philippines

Wi have audited the accompanying consolidaled finameial statements ol Elom Properties Philippines, Inc.,
as al December 31, 2023 and for the vear then ended, on which we have rendered the attached repornt
dated March 6, 2024,

In compliance with Revized Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, we are stating that the above company
has 1,456 stockholders oaning 100 or more shares each.

[P GORRES VELAYO & CO.

ristopher 5. fatalan

Partner

CPA Cerliflicate Wo, 109712

Tax Tdentification Wo. 233-299.245

BOAPRC Reg. Mo 0007, Augesi 23, 2021, valid until April 13, 2024

BIR Accreditation No. 08-007998-109-2023, October 26, 2023, valid until October 23, 2026
PTE No. 10079916, January 3. 2024, Makat City

March 6, 2024
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INDEPEXNDENT AUMTOR'S REPORT
ON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

The Stockholders and the Board of Dhrectors
Eton Properties Philippines, Inc.

8/ Allied Bank Center, 5754 Avala Avenue
Makati City, Metro Mamla, Philippines

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated financial
statements of Eton Properties Philippines, Inc. as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for each of the
three years then ended December 31, 2023, included in this Form 17-A, and have issued our report
thereon dated March 6, 2024, Our avdits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The schedules listed in the Index to the Financial
Statements and Supplementary Schedules are the responsihility of the Company's management. These
schedules are presented for purposcs of complying with the Revised Sccurities Regulation Code Rule
68.and are not part of the basic consolidated financial stalements. These schedules have been subjected to
the anditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic consolidated financial statements and, in our
opinion, the [inancial inlormation required to be sel lorth therein in relation (o the basic consolidated
financial stafemenis taken as a whaole, are prepared in all material respects, in accordance with Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards, as modilied by the application of the linancial reporting reliefs issued and
approved by the Seeurities and Exchange Commission, as desenibed in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

P GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Jdis.

Kristopher 5. Catalan
Partner
CPA Certificate No, 109712

Tax Identification No. 233-200.245

BOA/MPRC Reg. No. 0001, August 25, 2021, valid until April 15,2024

BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-1009-2023, October 26, 2023, valid until October 25, 2026
PTR No. 10079916, January 5, 2024, Makati City

March 6, 2024
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ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

INDEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ' SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF RETAINED EARNINGS
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION
DECEMBER 31, 2023 DECEMEER 31, 2023

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, December 31, 2022 P5,142,398.587

Supplementary schedule required by Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68:
Add: Category A: ltems that are directly eredited to

* Reconciliation of retained carnings available for dividend declaration Unappropriated Retained Earnings
e Financial soundness indicators Reversal of Retained Earnings Appropriation's -
Effect of restatements or prior-period adjustments -
17A Schedules Others = =

Less: Category B: 1tems that are divectly debited to
Unappropriated Retained Earnings
Dividend declaration during the reporting period -
Retained Barnings appropriated during the reporting period -
Effect of restatements or prior-period adjustments -

Oithers

Sub-total
Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted 5.142.398.587
Add: Net income for the current vear 540,486,443

Less: Category C. 1: Unrealized income recognized in the profit or
loss during the reporting period (net of tax ) -
Equity in net income of associate/joint venture, net of
dividends declared
Unrealized foreign exchange gain, except those attributable to
cash and cash equivalents
Unrealized fair value adjustment { mark-to-market gains) of
linancial instruments at air value through profit or loss
(FVTIPL) =
Unrealized fair value gain of investment property -
Other unrealized gains or adjustments to the retained earnings
as a resull of certain transactions accounted
tor under the PFRS -

Sub-total -

Add: Category C.2: Unrealized income recognized in the profit
or loss in prior reporting periods but realized in the current
reporting period (net of tax)
Realized foreign exchange gain, except those attributable to
cash and cash equivalents
Realized [air value adjustment {mark-to-market gains) of
linancial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL) -
Realized fair value gain of investment property
Fair value adjustment arising from repossessed inventories (149.230,900)

Sub-total (149,230,900

{Fowardi
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Add: Category C.3: Unrealized income recognized in profit or
loss in prior periods but reversed in the current reporting
period (net of tax)

Reversal of previously recorded foreign exchange gain, except
those attributable to cash and cash equivalents P-
Reversal of previously recorded fair value adjustment
(mark-to-market gains) of financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL) -
Reversal of previously recorded fair value gain of
investment property -
Reversal of other unrealized gains or adjustments to the
retained eamings as a result of certain transactions
accounted for under the PFRS, previously recorded

Sub-total

Adjusted Net Income 391,255,543
Add: Category ID: Non-actual losses recognized in profit or loss
during the reporting period (net of tax)
Depreciation on revaluation increment (alter tax) -
Sub-total -
Add/Less: Category E: Adjustments related to relief granted by
the SEC and BSP
Amortization of the effect of reporting relief -
Total amount of reporting reliel granted during the year -
Others -
Sub-total -
Add/Less: Category F: Other items that should be excluded
from the determination of the amount of available for
dividends distribution
Net movement of treasury shares (except for reacquisition of
redeemable shares) =
Net movement of deferred tax asset not considered in the
reconciling items under the previous catcgorics 2,905,805
Net movement in deferred tax asset and deferred tax Labilities
related to same transaction, ¢.g., set up of right of use of
asset and lease liability, set-up of assct
and asset retirement obligation, and set-up of service
concession asset and concession payable -
Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP - gain {loss)
Others
Sub-total 2,903,805
Total Retained Earnings available for dividend declaration,
December 31, 2023 P5.536,047.788

ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

Ratio Formula 2023 2022
Current ratio Current assets / Current liabilities 1.23 1.28
Acid test ratio Quick assets' / Current labilities 0.34 0.45
Solvency ratio EBITDA / Total average debt® 0.45 0.09
Debi-to-equity ratio Total liabilities / Total equity 0.45 0.37
Asset-to-equity rafio Taotal assets / Total equity 1.45 1.58
Interest rate coverage ratio EBITDA / Interest expense 4.78 4.01
Return on equity Net income / Total average equity 0.04 0.01
Return on assels Net income / Total average assels 0.03 (.01
Net profit margin Net income / Revenue 0.27 0.12

Lorald curvent assers exclmding real estate inventories and otfer current asseis
Chrrerd and noncarren! portion of long-levm debt and payvabie o landovweers



